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Additional copies of this annual 

report can be obtained by:

Visiting 

w w w.salotteries.com.au  

SA Lotteries Head O ffice at:  

24-25 Greenhill Road,  

Wayville, South Australia

Telephoning 

+61 (8) 8208 4100

Emailing 

info @salotteries.com.au

Writing to 

SA Lotteries at GPO Box 2277, 

Adelaide, South Australia, 5001.

 

SA Lotteries 2006-07 Annual Report 

is printed to ISO 14001 International 

Environmental Standards. 
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Since the first lottery ticket went on 

sale in 1967, SA Lotteries has played and 

continues to play an intrinsic part in the 

lives of most South Australians. Whether 

through playing a lottery game, 

dreaming of a win or benefiting from 

SA Lotteries’ community contributions, 

South Australians have shared in 

many significant achievements and 

memorable moments that represent 40 

successful years of lotteries in this State.

4 November 1965

A referendum is held on the 

establishment of a State lottery, 

asking the question, “Are you in favour 

of the promotion and conduct of 

lotteries by or under the authority 

of the Government of the State?”

18 August 1966

Premier Frank Walsh first introduced 

the State Lotteries Bill into Parliament.

26 October 1966

State Parliament passes the 

State Lotteries Bill. 

3 November 1966

Governor Lieutenant General 

Sir Edric M. Bastyan gives Royal 

Assent to the State Lotteries Bill. 

8 December 1966

The State Lotteries Act 1966 is 

proclaimed and the Lotteries 

Commission of South Australia 

is established to return profits to 

South Australia’s hospitals.

15 May 1967

The first (raffle-style) lottery tickets go 

on sale from SA Lotteries Head Office 

located in the Walsh Building (corner of 

Gawler Place and what is now Rundle 

Mall) and agencies throughout the State.

29 May 1967

The first lottery is drawn by the Premier 

of South Australia, the Honourable Frank 

Walsh, with the first prize of $14,000 

won by Mrs C. Hargraves of Fitzroy.

15 May 2007

SA Lotteries celebrates 40 years of 

prizes to players and profits to hospitals, 

announcing returns of more than 

$3.8 billion in prize money and $1.8 

billion to State public hospitals. 

40 years of prizes to players 
and profits to hospitals
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Our vision

To benefit the community 

of South Australia.

Our mission

To create prosperity through 

the responsible promotion 

and conduct of lotteries.

Our values

In the promotion and conduct of 

lotteries and the way we conduct 

our business, we will operate with:

 > Integrity

 > Accountability

 > Respect.

Our goals

1. To promote, conduct and distribute 

lotteries games in a responsible 

manner to generate wealth for the 

South Australian community.

2. To be a corporately responsible and 

respected organisation that has a 

broad base of community support.

3. To improve productivity by optimising 

the use of assets and pursuing the 

most effective work practices.

Our Vision, Mission, Values and Goals

Celebrat
ing a su

ccessfu
l  

40 years 
Photographer:  

Morne De Klerk
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The Honourable Michael Wright, MP

Minister for Government Enterprises

Parliament House, Adelaide SA 5000

SA Lotteries celebrated the 40th 

anniversary of the sale of the first  

lottery ticket in South Australia on 

Tuesday, 15 May 2007. Since 1967,  

SA Lotteries’ significant contribution  

to the South Australian community has 

totalled $3.8 billion in prizes to players, 

$1.8 billion to hospitals and since 1987, 

$8 million to recreation and sport.

Our most recent achievements are 

outlined in the Lotteries Commission 

of South Australia annual report for the 

year ended 30 June 2007 which follows.

A total of $226 million in prize money 

was won by our players last year, 

including a record $25 million Oz 

Lotto prize. The State’s Hospitals Fund 

received $86 million for the provision, 

maintenance, development and 

improvement of our public hospitals 

and the Recreation and Sport Fund 

received $130 000 towards the support 

and development of recreational 

and sporting facilities and services.

SA Lotteries is supported by 534 retail 

and licensed agencies operating 

throughout the State. The $25.8 million 

in commission paid by SA Lotteries 

to our retail and licensed agencies 

is an important contribution to our 

economy, as is approximately $9 million 

paid to South Australian companies 

supplying products and services. 

These benefits to the South Australian 

community resulted from game sales of  

$349 million; pooling arrangements with 

other Australian state licensed lottery 

operators contributing 67 per cent 

of sales. The positive impact of these 

pooling arrangements on Bloc, or multi-

jurisdiction, lottery game prize pools 

is of great importance to SA Lotteries. 

Ongoing cooperation and expansion 

of our relationship with other lottery 

operators will ensure the future success 

of our business. In this regard, the 

amendment to the State Lotteries Act 

on 30 April 2007 is particularly important 

as it enables SA Lotteries to enter into 

jackpot pooling or cooperative dealings 

with international jurisdictions.

Other amendments to the State 

Lotteries Act allow for the future 

conduct of special appeal lotteries to 

raise funds for specific State-based 

causes or disasters and an increase in 

the minimum age to play SA Lotteries 

games from 16 to 18 years. Penalties for 

selling tickets to, or claiming a prize on 

behalf of a minor were also increased. 

Further enhancing SA Lotteries’ 

benefit to the South Australian 

community during the year was 

the progressive implementation of 

our Corporate Social Responsibility 

(CSR) program, which focuses on 

minimising the organisation’s impact 

on the environment while maximising 

social and economic benefits.

The Independent Gambling Authority 

(IGA), in its report released on 17 

May 2007, recommended legislative 

or administrative initiatives for 

the removal of Keno from retail 

premises and an increase in the 

minimum age of those selling our 

games. SA Lotteries welcomed the 

Government’s support enabling Keno 

to remain in retail premises and for 

our games to continue to be sold 

by people under the age of 18 as 

both recommendations would have 

significantly impacted on the viability 

of a number of SA Lotteries’ agencies.  

Good progress has been made 

towards the replacement of the Online 

Lotteries System, which is central to 

the operation of the organisation. 

Responses received from a Request 

for Proposal, issued in March 2007, 

are currently being evaluated to 

ensure a timely implementation of the 

system in late 2009. The new system, 

together with the simultaneous 

replacement of the Digital Data Service 

communications network, will provide 

a platform to ensure that customer 

expectations continue to be met. 

While the gaming market has 

increased in South Australia over the 

past three years, lottery games sales 

have remained static. The challenge 

for SA Lotteries is to increase its 

market share by being innovative in a 

responsible manner. The replacement 

of the Online Lotteries System will 

help to facilitate the introduction 

of new games and distribution 

channels to achieve this goal.

From the Chairman and 
Chief Executive
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Hans J Ohff

Presiding Member

Stephen Shirley Commission Member

Suzanne Mackenzie 

Commission Member

Wayne Jackson 
Commission Member

Anne Lindsay 

Commission Member

June RoacheChief Executive

SA Lotteries’ achievements are 

attributable to an enthusiastic and 

committed network of people, 

comprising 82 hardworking staff, 534 

dedicated agents and hundreds of 

thousands of loyal South Australians.

The Commission is grateful for the 

valuable contribution that outgoing 

board member, Ms Chris Crago, 

has made to the organisation 

during the past four years and we 

welcome the appointment by the 

Government of Ms Anne Lindsay 

to the Board in March 2007. 

Hans J Ohff

Presiding Member

June Roache

Chief Executive
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Performance at a glance

Performance Measure Target 2006-07 Actual 2006-07

Gross sales $355.0 million $349.2 million

Sales per capita $294.61 $289.07

Tickets sold 60.8 million 55.9 million

EBITDA per FTE $348 000 $405 000

Our strategy: Grow lotteries revenue by enhancing existing games and introducing new games and 
initiatives to meet players’ expectations.

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Objective: Growing Prosperity.

Our strategy: Ensure a sound, responsive and adaptive technology infrastructure.

Performance Measure Target 2006-07 Actual 2006-07

Online lottery system down time: central system 0.05% 0.10%

Communications network downtime 0.02% 0.02%

Point of Sale terminal reliability (MTBF) 150 000 201 913

Performance Measure Target 2006-07 Actual 2006-07

Total operating expenses as % of gross sales 7.3% 6.8%

Operating expenses per FTE $310 000 $315 000

Average Full-Time Equivalents (FTEs) 

employed during the year

83.52 74.81

Our strategy: Minimise operating costs as a percentage of sales.

Performance Measure Target 2006-07 Actual 2006-07

Percentage of employees with vocational 

or higher education qualifications

55% 58%

Training and development costs as a 

percentage of base salary costs

2.61% 1.79%

Our strategy: Strive for a higher performance culture through a broader base of 
strong leadership, system and process innovation and employee development.
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Sales per capita – based on South Australian adult (18+) population (ABS Cat 3101.0 and ABS Cat 3201.0)

EBITDA – Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation

FTE – Average Full-Time Equivalent employee numbers during the year

Total Operating Expenses include interest and depreciation expenses

Return to Government – Ac tual 2006-07 includes distribution of unclaimed prizes ($1.9 million). The target does not include unclaimed prizes. 

MTBF – Mean number of Transac tions Between Failures – a measure of reliability of agent terminals

Performance Measure Target 2006-07 Actual 2006-07

Number of visits to corporate website 1 235 000 1 388 793

Our strategy: Ensure growth and sustainable revenue opportunities are pursued.

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Objective: Fostering Creativity.

Performance Measure Target 2006-07 Actual 2006-07

Non-compliance with the Codes of Practice 7.5% 4.5%

Problem gambling reports 12 1

$ value of SA suppliers as a % total suppliers 59% 54%

Our strategy: Build community and stakeholder trust and support.

Performance Measure Target 2006-07 Actual 2006-07

Return to Government (Hospitals Fund 

and Recreation and Sport Fund)

$84.2 million $86.1 million

Sponsorship $ per capita $0.25 $0.17

Our strategy: Maximise community benefits and promote the beneficiaries of SA Lotteries’ operations.

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Objective: Improving Wellbeing.

Our strategy: Adopt sound environmental practices in all operations.

Performance Measure Target 2006-07 Actual 2006-07

Energy consumption 771 753 KWhrs 811 703 KWkrs

Greenhouse emissions 856 105 KgC02 813 081 KgC02

South Australia’s Strategic Plan Objective: Attaining Sustainability.
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Ten year financial summary

Year ended 30 June

2007

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2004

$’000

2003

$’000

2002

$’000

2001

$’000

2000

$’000

1999

$’000

1998

$’000

Gross sales

Lotto - Saturday 135 042 132 388 135 176 130 825 129 603 123 632 123 023 120 304 115 074 113 220

Lotto - Monday & Wednesday* 32 607 35 936 40 670 41 706 28 931 23 380 21 468 21 292 18 756 17 635

Oz Lotto 22 234 16 495 14 641 15 467 16 575 17 127 17 133 16 662 16 977 19 590

Powerball 42 034 46 519 42 248 44 760 51 379 44 526 46 438 34 288 35 200 27 223

Keno 78 523 76 581 73 821 70 425 67 155 64 838 61 689 68 620 69 308 71 818

Instant Scratchies 37 139 38 383 40 343 39 812 39 864 37 920 37 099 30 866 28 860 25 833

Super 66 1 149 1 228 1 333 1 479 1 662 1 828 2 027 2 379 2 677 2 739

The Pools 518 558 586 622 742 605 716 607 609 566

Total gross sales 349 246 348 088 348 818 345 096 335 911 313 856 309 593 295 018 287 461 278 624

Cost of sales

Agents commission 25 779 25 755 25 795 25 443 24 694 23 100 22 707 21 853 20 692 20 104

Prizes 211 236 209 439 207 172 207 886 202 336 187 217 180 604 174 519 173 982 169 659

    % of gross sales 60.5% 60.2% 59.4% 60.2% 60.2% 59.7% 58.3% 59.2% 60.5% 60.9%

Gambling tax on NGR # 56 584 56 846 58 074 56 256 54 766 51 922 51 480 - - -

    % of gross sales 16.2% 16.3% 16.6% 16.3% 16.3% 16.5% 16.6% - - -

GST on NGR# 12 546 12 604 12 877 12 474 12 143 11 513 11 415 - - -

    % of gross sales 3.6% 3.6% 3.7% 3.6% 3.6%  3.7% 3.7% - - -

Total cost of sales 306 145 304 644 303 918 302 059 293 939 273 752 266 206 196 372 194 674 189 799

Gross margin 43 101 43 444 44 900 43 037 41 972 40 104 43 387 98 646 92 787 88 825

Other revenue 7 487 7 039 7 294 6 944 6 878 6 204 7 171 6 520 5 117 5 319

Total income 50 588 50 483 52 194 49 981 48 850 46 308 50 558 105 166 97 904 94 144

Operating expenses 23 602 23 249 25 978 24 926 24 421 22 756 20 856 20 297 17 151 16 435

    % of gross sales 6.8% 6.7% 7.4% 7.2% 7.3% 7.3% 6.7% 6.9% 6.0% 5.9%

Profit before income 

tax equivalent 26 986 27 234 26 216 25055 24 429 23 552 29 702 84 869 80 753 77 709

    % of gross sales 7.7% 7.8% 7.5% 7.3% 7.3% 7.5% 9.6% 28.8% 28.1% 27.9%
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Year ended 30 June

2007

$’000

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

2004

$’000

2003

$’000

2002

$’000

2001

$’000

2000

$’000

1999

$’000

1998

$’000

Return to government

Gambling tax (total) 56 616 56 888 58 412 56 256 54 766 51 922 51 480 - - -

Income tax equivalent^ 8 096 8 170 7 799 7 516 7 542 7 066 10 099 31 336 31 375 28 589

Dividend ## 1 9476 18 956 22 906 17 869 17 673 15 369 15 689 53 128 50 028 48 088

Unclaimed prizes 1 905 1 291 1 839 1 639 1 551 1 656 1 515 1 535 1 279 1 301

86 093 85 305 90 956 83 280 81 532 76 013 78 783 85 999 82 682 77 978

    % of gross sales 24.7% 24.5% 26.1% 24.1% 24.3% 24.2% 25.4% 29.2% 28.8% 28.0%

GST on NGR** 12 546 12 604 12 877 12 474 12 143 11 513 11 415 - - -

Total return to government 98 639 97 909 10 3833 95 754 93 675 87 526 90 198 85 999 82 682 77 978

  * Lotto - Monday and Wednesday replaced SA Lotto from 27 April 2006. SA Lotto twice weekly draws on Monday and Wednesday  

   commenced November 2003. 

   # State Gambling Tax and GST introduced on 1 July 2000 and are levied on Net Gambling Revenue (NGR = Gross sales less monetary prizes). 

    State Gambling Tax at the rate of 41% of NGR paid to the Hospitals Fund/Recreation and Sport Fund. 

    GST at the rate of 9.09% of NGR paid to the Australian Taxation O ffice, which is subsequently returned to the State Government. 

  ^ Includes Sales Tax Equivalent amounts for the period to 2000. 

 ## Includes Special Dividend of $6 527 000 in 2005 resulting from proceeds on sale of SA Lotteries’ former Head O ffice in Rundle Mall.

 ** GST on NGR is paid to the Commonwealth Government which is subsequently returned to the State Government.
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$226 million in prize money  won in South Australia
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In 1967, South Australia’s inaugural 

lottery offered a top prize of $14,000 

and comprised a series of 100,000 raffle-

style tickets valued at 50 cents each. 

In 2006-07, SA Lotteries operates and 

promotes nine lottery games that 

collectively generated an annual 

turnover of $349 million and more 

than $226 million in prize money 

to thousands of local players. 

Games

In 2006-07, SA Lotteries continued 

to grow lotteries revenue in a 

sustainable and responsible manner 

by enhancing existing games and 

introducing new games and initiatives 

to meet players’ expectations. 

Saturday – Just imagine

Played every Saturday, Lotto is a national 

game which offers players the chance to 

share in a guaranteed minimum Division 

One prize pool of $4 million and seven 

Megadraw prize pools each year.

Game structure

Six numbered balls and two 

supplementary numbered balls 

are randomly drawn from a barrel 

containing 45 numbered balls.

Sales performance

$135.0 million ($2.7 million or 

2.0% increase from 2005-06)

% of sales 

38.7% 

Highlights

Strong player support for  

$4 million weekly draws and 

innovative promotional activity  

Trend

Sales maintenance

Prize money won

$66.1 million

Division one winners

23 local players shared  

$16.2 million in prize money

Monday and Wednesday 
– Just imagine

Lotto – Monday and Wednesday offers 

players in South Australia, Western 

Australia and New South Wales the 

chance to share in a guaranteed Division 

One prize pool of $1 million every 

Monday and $750,000 every Wednesday.  

Game structure

Six numbered balls and two 

supplementary balls are 

randomly drawn from a barrel 

containing 45 numbered balls.

Sales performance

$32.6 million ($3.3 million or 

9.3% decrease on 2005-06)

% of sales 

9.3% 

Highlight

Lotto Surprizes promotion whereby 

players purchasing a Lotto ticket 

were given an instant prize

Trend

Declining weekly sales

Prize money won

$19.8 million

Division one winners

16 local players shared  

$11.2 million in prize money

Games, prizes and winners

$349 million in gross sales, 
representing a 0.3% increase 
on the previous year
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Bigger jackpots, more often

Played every Tuesday, Oz Lotto is a 

national game which offers players the 

chance to win bigger prizes more often. 

Game structure

Seven numbered balls and 

two supplementary balls are 

randomly drawn from a barrel 

containing 45 numbered balls.

Sales performance

$22.2 million ($5.7 million or 

34.8% increase on 2005-06)

% of sales 

6.4% 

Highlight

Record $25.0 million prize payout 

to a South Australian player 

Trend

High level jackpot activity 

and increased draw sales

Prize money won

$47.0 million  

Division one winners

2 local players shared  

$40.0 million in prize money

Life’s different when you’ve won

Played every Thursday, Powerball is a 

national game which offers players the 

chance to win multi-million dollar prizes. 

Game structure

Five numbered balls are randomly 

drawn from a barrel of 45, and one 

numbered ball (the Powerball) 

is drawn from a second barrel 

containing 45 numbered balls.

Sales performance

$42.0 million ($4.5 million or 

9.6% decrease on 2005-06)

% of sales 

12.0% 

Highlight

Jackpots of $30 million and $33 million

Trend

Sales maintenance

Prize money won

$13.5 million

More winners, more often

Played every 3.5 minutes, Keno offers 

players the chance to win various 

prizes up to a guaranteed prize of $1 

million in addition to a jackpot prize. 

Game structure

20 numbers are randomly 

generated from a possible 80 every 

3.5 minutes. Players can choose 

to select one number (Spot 1) 

up to 10 numbers (Spot 10). 

Sales performance

$78.5 million ($1.9 million or 

2.5% increase on 2005-06)

% of sales 

22.5% 

Highlight

Two Spot 10 winners

Trend

Sales growth

Prize money won

$58.4 million

Spot 8, 9 and 10 top prize winners

11 local players shared  

$3.8 million in prize money
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SA Lotteries launched South Australia’s 

first ever $10 Instant Scratchies ticket, 

Cash Celebration, in June 2007 to 

commemorate 40 years of lotteries 

in South Australia. Cash Celebration 

comprises a limited series of 420,000 

holographic tickets and offers a 

record Instant Scratchies prize pool 

of over $3 million. With a top prize 

of $300 000, Cash Celebration offers 

thousands of prizes of $20 or more 

and also features a bonus game.

It happens

Instant Scratchies provides South 

Australians with the opportunity 

to win an instant prize.

Game structure

Instant lottery tickets. Each ticket series 

has a unique prize matrix with top prizes 

ranging from $10 000 to $300 000.

Sales performance

$37.2 million ($1.2 million or 

3.2% decrease on 2005-06)

% of sales

10.6%

Highlight

Launch of SA Lotteries’ first $10 

Instant Scratchies ticket

Trend

Sales growth

Prize money won

$20.7 million

Top prize winners

13 local players shared $1.7 

million in prize money

Simply super

Played every Saturday, Super 66 is 

a national game which is drawn 

immediately before Lotto.

Game structure

Six-digit number combination is 

chosen in the range of 000000 to 

999999. To win, players match their 

selected numbers with the drawn 

numbers in the order drawn.

Sales performance

$1.15 million ($0.08 million or 

6.4% decrease on 2005-06)

% of sales

0.3% 

Key Change

Rule change to allow the potential 

for increased jackpot activity

Trend

Sales maintenance

Prize money won

$0.63 million

Division one winners

1 local player won $33,000 

in prize money

Games, prizes and winners

 Cash celebration
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Play. Score. Win.

Played every Saturday, The Pools 

is a national game which is based 

on the results of weekend soccer 

matches played in either the Northern 

Hemisphere or Southern Hemisphere.

Game structure

Six numbers and one supplementary 

number are determined from a 

field of 38 numbers, based on the 

results of selected soccer matches.

Sales performance

$0.52 million ($0.04 million or 

7.2% decrease on 2005-06)

% of sales

0.1% 

Highlight

Regular jackpot activity and 

an annual promotion

Trend

Sales maintenance

Prize money won

$0.09 million

Turn $5 into $500,000

Launched in June 2007, LuckySA Lottery 

is based on a traditional raffle-style 

lottery with tickets generated via SA 

Lotteries’ online lottery terminals.

Game structure

Comprises a limited series of 

tickets, each with fixed prizes.

Note

Lucky SA Lottery will be drawn 

once all 200,000 tickets are sold.

Lotteries Kiosk

  Inst
ant S

cratc
hies a

nywhe
re
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Since the very first lottery tickets 

went on sale on Monday, 15 May 1967, 

SA Lotteries has been enriching the 

lives of South Australians through the 

delivery of entertaining games and life-

changing moments.  South Australians 

have won more than $3.8 billion in 

prize money in the past 40 years.

South Australians won more than  

$226 million in prize money in the  

past year in the form of approximately 

290 000 prizes each week. Of the  

year’s 66 Division One winners, two 

became overnight multi-millionaires 

and 10 became millionaires.  

Division One prize money won by  

South Australians in 2006-07 totalled  

$72.9 million – almost double the  

$37.3 million won in the previous year.

Memorable moments

$25 million record breaking 

win for South Australia. 

With South Australia’s luckiest 

combination of numbers – 17  8  43  

45  25  12  1 – a married couple from 

the southern suburbs won the State’s 

largest ever lottery prize in June.

After taking some time to recover from 

the shock, the couple presented the 

winning 7-game Easi-Pick ticket to 

claim the $25 million Oz Lotto fortune.  

After purchasing the ticket on a whim, 

the woman distinctly remembered 

feeling lucky and thinking ‘what if’.  

The couple planned to share the win 

with family members and celebrate 

their good fortune with an expensive 

bottle of French champagne.

Dedicated employee

Just minutes after discovering his 

$15 million Oz Lotto win, a Parafield 

Gardens father arrived at work “to 

start the midnight shift”. He was still 

at work the following morning when 

he was contacted by SA Lotteries.  

“I’ve worked a lot of hours over the past 

few days, so I’m probably too tired to be 

excited at this point”, was his reaction 

to the multi-million dollar news. 

Due to “knock-off work in an 

hour”, the 40-year-old declared 

that “heading home for a long 

sleep” was his first priority. 

No more midnight shifts for this 

lucky local, as he is now retired 

and travelling the world. 

Games, prizes and winners

$226 million in prizes  
to players

Cause for celebration

$25 million record lottery 
win for South Australia
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$1.6 million win was no April Fools joke

SA Lotteries had a hard time convincing 

a southern suburbs man that he had 

won a $1 615 384 Lotto Megadraw prize. 

“You know it’s the first of April 

today, so I’m not falling for that,” 

the man had responded to SA 

Lotteries’ telephone call. 

The sceptical man ended the call 

with, “Thank you very much, but I 

still don’t believe you, I will go home 

tonight and check the paper myself.” 

Easter blessing

A couple from Adelaide’s northern 

suburbs celebrated an Easter blessing 

of an unexpected kind – a $666 666 

Division One Lotto prize. “We are so 

grateful for this gift from God that 

we’re going to share this blessing 

with many others,” the married 

couple said. The couple planned 

to share the Easter nest egg with 

family and friends via surprise gifts.

“We’ll be helping family and 

friends anonymously, so they 

will unknowingly be sharing in 

our good fortune,” they said.

What our winners say

In March 2007, SA Lotteries 

commissioned an independent research 

company to profile those South 

Australians who were lucky enough 

to win a Division One prize during the 

past five years. More than 180 of these 

winners participated in the research, 

which enabled SA Lotteries to gain 

an insight into the demographics, 

attitudes and behaviours, financial 

impact and future plans of South 

Australia’s Division One winners. 

SA Lotteries was also able to 

determine the impact that winning 

a major prize had on the lucky few:

> 98 per cent of SA Lotteries’ 

Division One winners surveyed 

were happy with their lives, with 

56 per cent of those attributing 

their happiness to the financial 

security offered by their prize win.  

> Among their most memorable 

purchases made with their prize 

money, SA Lotteries’ Division One 

winners named a houseboat, 

racehorse, digital hearing aid, 

liposuction, dog-sledding in Alaska, 

Jo DiMaggio autographed baseball, 

massage chair, hiring the Prince of 

Wales Carriage on the Indian Pacific to 

Perth, an ultra-light aircraft and 17 cars. 

Making som
eone

,s day 

with a win
ning call

66 Division One winners 
sharing in more than  
$72.9 million
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$86 million to  
South Australia's hospitals
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SA Lotteries Symphony Sessions - Playing 

for patients at the Royal Adelaide Hospital
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Since 29 May 1967, when the Premier 

of South Australia, the Honourable 

Frank Walsh, drew the numbered 

marble in the State’s inaugural lottery 

draw, SA Lotteries has operated 

with transparency and integrity. 

Role of the shareholder

The Honourable Michael Wright MP is 

responsible for SA Lotteries, under the 

portfolio of Government Enterprises.  

The Minister’s other portfolios are 

Industrial Relations, Finance, and 

Recreation, Sport and Racing. 

SA Lotteries aims to ensure that 

the shareholder, the Government 

of South Australia, is informed of 

all major developments affecting 

SA Lotteries’ state of affairs via:

> Written reports and meetings 

with the Minister

> Submission of SA Lotteries’ annual 

operating and capital budgets to 

the Government for approval

> Attendance by a Government 

observer at Commission and 

Audit Committee meetings

> Distribution of the annual 

report to the shareholder

> The Auditor-General’s annual 

report to Parliament, which 

includes SA Lotteries.

SA Lotteries ensures compliance with 

all formal directions issued by the 

responsible Minister. There were no 

such directions issued during 2006-07. 

The Commission

The Commission is established 

under the State Lotteries Act 

1966 (as amended).

Responsible for the governance of  

SA Lotteries, the Commission’s 

established processes provide strategic 

guidance for management towards 

achievement of corporate goals. In 

conjunction with the management 

team, the Commission strives to achieve 

best practice in meeting these goals. 

Composition of the Commission

In accordance with the State Lotteries 

Act, the Commission is to consist of 

not less than three, nor more than 

five, members appointed by the 

Governor of South Australia, one of 

whom shall be nominated by the 

Governor as the Presiding Member 

of the Commission.  The Commission 

comprises non-executive members.

A member is appointed for a term  

of office not exceeding five years 

determined by the Governor.   

On the expiration of the term of  

office as a member, a member shall  

be eligible for re-appointment.  

The Commission membership 
as at 30 June 2007 comprised:

Name Mr H J Ohff, FIEAust, 

CPEng, BA (Hons)

Position Presiding Member

Expertise Engineering

Name Ms S J Mackenzie, B Comm 

(Accounting), LLB (Hons)

Position Member

Expertise Law

Name Mr S K Shirley, BEc, FCA, CPA, FTIA

Position Member

Expertise Accounting

Name Mr W R Jackson, BEc, FASA

Position Member

Expertise Business 

Management Consultant

Name Ms A E Lindsay, BA 

(Hons), LLB (Hons)

Position Member

Expertise Law

The terms of two Commission members, 

Ms Chris Crago and Mr Stephen Shirley,  

expired on 31 August 2006. Mr Stephen  

Shirley was re-appointed as a Commission  

member for a term of three years, 

effective from 8 February 2007.  Effective 

from 22 March 2007, Ms Anne Lindsay 

was appointed as a Commission 

member for a term of three years.  

Corporate governance
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The Governor may, by notice in writing 

served on a member, suspend a 

member from office for any period 

not exceeding the balance of the 

term of office, or remove a member 

from office on grounds of misconduct 

or incapacity to perform the duties 

or functions of the position.

Generally, the Commission meets 

monthly.  Remuneration for a 

member is $18 700 per annum, plus 

an attraction and retention allowance 

of $2200 per annum.  The Presiding 

Member receives $27 200 per annum, 

plus an attraction and retention 

allowance of $2200 per annum.  

Further details of members’ 

remuneration are set out in Note 9 

to the Annual Financial Report.

Audit Committee

The role of the Audit Committee 

is to assist the Commission to 

fulfil its responsibilities in relation 

to the identification of areas of 

significant business risks by:

> Advising on the establishment 

and maintenance of a framework 

for internal control for the 

management of SA Lotteries.

> Monitoring the quality and 

reliability of financial information 

prepared for use by the Commission 

in determining policies or for 

inclusion in financial statements.

The Audit Committee has a 

formal charter incorporating its 

broad functions as follows:  

> Reviewing the General Purpose 

Financial Report prior to its approval 

by the Commission to ensure the 

Report presents fairly, in accordance 

with the Treasurer’s Instructions 

promulgated under the provisions 

of the Public Finance and Audit Act 

1987; applicable Accounting Standards 

and other mandatory professional 

reporting requirements applicable 

in Australia; the financial position of 

the Lotteries Commission of South 

Australia as at 30 June; its financial 

performance and its cash flows for 

the year then ended; and ensuring 

that internal controls over financial 

reporting have been effective 

throughout the reporting period.

> Liaising with SA Lotteries’ external 

auditors, the Auditor-General’s 

Department, on all matters 

concerning the outcome of 

annual audits of the Lotteries 

Commission of South Australia.

> Regular reviewing of the adequacy 

of the accounting, internal 

auditing, reporting and other 

financial management systems 

and practices of the Lotteries 

Commission of South Australia or 

any other matter the Commission 

and/or Audit Committee request.

The internal and external auditors are 

invited to Audit Committee meetings  

at the discretion of the Committee. 

KPMG were the appointed internal 

auditors for the 2006-07 financial year.  

 

In accordance with its charter, the 

Audit Committee comprises three 

Commission members. During the 

year membership comprised:

Mr Stephen Shirley

Chair (1 July 2006 to 31 August 

2006 and from 8 February 2007)

Mr Wayne Jackson

Member (1 July 2006 to 11 December 

2006 and from 8 February 2007)

Chair (12 December 2006 

to 7 February 2007)

Ms Chris Crago

Member (1 July 2006 to 31 August 2006)

Ms Suzanne Mackenzie

Member (12 December 2006 

to 7 February 2007)

Ms Anne Lindsay

Member (from 24 May 2007)

Members of the Audit Committee 

receive a fee of $2805 per annum. 

The Chair of the Committee receives 

a fee of $4080 per annum.
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Information Technology 
Committee

An Information Technology (IT) 

Committee was established during 

2006-07 to assist the Commission 

to oversee the use of information 

technology within SA Lotteries. 

The IT Committee has a formal 

charter incorporating its terms 

of reference, as follows:

> Monitor the development 

and implementation of major 

technology projects.

> Evaluate risk management strategies 

designed to minimise interruption 

to online selling activities.

> Provide advice to the Commission 

on all matters associated with 

major technology projects.

The Committee’s main focus is the 

replacement of the Online Lotteries 

System, relevant software and 

communications infrastructure.

In accordance with its charter, 

the IT Committee comprises one 

Commission member appointed 

by the Commission, together with 

executive management of SA Lotteries. 

A representative from the Auditor-

General’s Department is invited to 

attend IT Committee Meetings. The IT 

Committee reports to the Commission.

Attendance at meetings 

The number of meetings held during 

the year, together with attendance 

by each member, is detailed below.

* Member for part year only

^ Invited attendee

# Not a Member  

Mr Stephen Shirley attended an 

additional four meetings of the 

Commission and two meetings 

of the Audit Committee as a 

consultant to the Commission.

Corporate governance

Commission members

Commission 

meetings (12 held)

Audit Committee 

meetings (6 held)

IT Committee 

meetings (5 held)

Mr Hans Ohff 12 1^ 5

Ms Suzanne Mackenzie 12 2* #

Ms Chris Crago 2* 2* #

Mr Stephen Shirley 7* 4* #

Mr Wayne Jackson 11 6 #

Ms Anne Lindsay 3* 0* #
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Commission relationship 
with management

The Chief Executive is accountable to 

the Commission for the achievement  

of SA Lotteries’ corporate goals.  

In accordance with the State Lotteries 

Act, the Commission may delegate 

to any officer of the Commission 

any of the powers, duties, functions 

and authorities of the Commission. 

To this end, the Commission 

clearly defines management 

accountabilities through approved 

management operating authorities.

Commission members are invited 

to observe or participate in the 

evaluation process for all tenders 

greater than $1.1 million.

Internal control framework

The Commission acknowledges that it 

is responsible for the internal control 

framework but recognises that a cost 

effective internal control system will not 

preclude all errors and irregularities. To 

assist, the Commission has instigated 

an internal control framework that can 

be described under five headings:

Financial reporting

There is a comprehensive budgeting 

system with an annual budget approved 

by the Commission prior to submission 

to the Government. Monthly actual 

results are reported against budget. 

Quality and integrity of personnel

SA Lotteries’ employees are bound 

by the Code of Conduct for South 

Australian Public Sector employees.

Operating division controls

Financial controls and procedures, 

including information systems 

controls, are in place. A Commission 

questionnaire confirms compliance 

with these procedures to ensure 

sound principles of corporate 

governance and accountability.

Functional specialty reporting

Performance measures are identified, 

which are regularly reported within  

a corporate scorecard. 

Capital investment appraisal

SA Lotteries has clearly defined 

guidelines for capital expenditure. 

These include levels of authority, 

annual budgets, detailed cost benefit 

analysis and post-implementation 

reviews for large expenditure items.

Corporate policy framework

SA Lotteries maintains a corporate 

policy framework comprising more than 

30 policies that are annually reviewed 

by the Audit Committee and approved 

by the Commission. Congruent with 

the corporate policies are divisional 

policies, procedures and guidelines 

that are reviewed by management on 

an ongoing basis to reflect changes in 

business operations. These include:

Freedom of information (FOI)

SA Lotteries has obligations under the 

Freedom of Information Act 1991 to 

ensure appropriate and timely action 

is taken when access to information is 

requested. A Freedom of Information 

Statement is published on SA Lotteries’ 

website. There were no requests for 

information during the financial year.  
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Risk Management Program

Risks in relation to the protection of  

SA Lotteries’ employees, assets, 

earnings, liabilities and the public were 

reassessed during the year.  New risks 

resulting from changes in operations 

were identified and included as part  

of the Risk Management Program.

Risk assessment was carried out  

on an ongoing basis during the year  

and a formal annual review of the  

Risk Register was completed. 

Crisis planning

In 2006-07 SA Lotteries reviewed and 

updated the Crisis Plan, ensuring that 

business activities and employees 

were prepared to manage a crisis if 

and when one should eventuate.

Fraud

SA Lotteries has a Fraud Control 

Policy to minimise its exposure to 

fraudulent conduct by establishing 

processes that identify potential risk 

areas and implement controls that 

reduce the risk of fraudulent action 

occurring. Suspected incidents of 

fraud are investigated immediately.  

There was one instance of alleged 

fraud by a member of the public 

which, at 30 June 2007, was being 

investigated by SA Police.

Quality management

SA Lotteries is committed to the 

implementation of quality practices 

and systems in all aspects of its 

operations.  A Quality Management 

System operates to document the 

processes and controls in place to 

achieve the objectives described 

in the organisation’s Quality Policy 

Statement, and to maintain continuing 

certification to the Quality Standard 

AS/NZS ISO 9001:2000.  Regular internal 

reviews maintain the focus on continual 

improvement to practices and systems 

and the Quality Management System is 

audited biannually by external parties.

Information security

SA Lotteries complies with 

the requirements of the 

Information Security Standard 

AS/NZS 7799.2:2003, verified via 

independent biannual audits.

Ethics and Culture Committee 

To ensure that SA Lotteries’ values of 

integrity, accountability and respect 

are upheld, an Ethics and Culture 

Committee was established with 

the purpose of ensuring that policy 

objectives are met and issues of 

an ethical and cultural nature are 

addressed and raised at the regular 

meetings of the Committee.  

 

Corporate governance
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Intellectual assets management

SA Lotteries regards the protection of 

its intellectual property as important 

to its ongoing success. A register of 

all protected trademarks and names 

is maintained and monitored on an 

ongoing basis, and is supported by 

internal policies and procedures. 

SA Lotteries is also progressing the 

finalisation of Trade Mark Management 

Agreements and Trade Mark Licence 

Agreements at a Bloc level (that is 

with interstate counterparts).

Corporate security management 

SA Lotteries has developed an 

overarching and comprehensive 

Corporate Security Policy that seeks 

to identify all aspects of corporate 

security that impact on the day-to-day 

business operation. The policy forms 

the basis for the implementation of 

strategies to protect assets, operations, 

information and personnel against 

all possible security breaches.

Our home



28  |  Lotteries Commission of South Australia

At a referendum on 4 November 1965, 

South Australians voted overwhelmingly 

in favour of introducing a State lottery  

to return profits to public hospitals - a 

function the organisation still continues 

to carry out.  Today, SA Lotteries is 

focused on making a greater positive 

impact on business and the community 

through best practice strategies which 

form its Corporate Social Responsibility 

(CSR) program.

SA Lotteries’ mission is to create 

prosperity through the responsible 

promotion and conduct of 

lotteries. This prosperity is primarily 

delivered to South Australians 

through prizes to players, profits to 

hospitals and support for sport. 

Further complementing the goal 

of benefiting the community of 

South Australia is SA Lotteries’ CSR 

program, which has been progressively 

implemented since July 2006.   

SA Lotteries recognises that, like any 

organisation, future success will rely 

on its ability to adopt better business 

practices to further benefit the 

community in which it operates.

Segmented into four impact areas  

– environment, social, economic and 

corporate governance – the CSR program 

focuses on minimising SA Lotteries’ 

impact on the environment and 

maximising the social and economic 

benefits it brings to the State.

The program, which is aligned with 

the State Government’s Strategic 

Plan, incorporates initiatives such 

as workplace giving, community 

support and corporate volunteering, 

which have so far benefited more 

than 75 South Australian community 

and not-for-profit organisations.  

Profit to hospitals and support for sports 

SA Lotteries returned $86 million to 

South Australia’s hospitals in 2006-07 

towards the provision, maintenance, 

development and improvement 

of our public hospitals, taking the 

total since 1967 to $1.8 billion.

In addition to supporting the South 

Australian community through returns 

to the Hospitals Fund, SA Lotteries also 

returns profit to the State’s Recreation 

and Sport Fund. Since 1987, $8.0 million 

has been contributed to support and 

develop South Australia’s recreational 

and sporting facilities and services.

Matching funds 

Every dollar raised by employees as 

part of monthly departmental charity 

days was matched by SA Lotteries. 

In total $12 293 was donated to 

12 not-for-profit organisations:

> Children’s Medical Research 

Institute (Jeans for Genes Day)

> Heart Foundation

> Breast Cancer Foundation

> Cancer Council (Prostate Cancer)

> The Smith Family

> Kids Help Line

> The Burns Trust

> RSPCA

> Camp Quality

> Melanoma Research

> Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS)

> Guide Dogs SA/NT.

Corporate volunteering

Employees are granted one day a 

year at full pay to volunteer their time 

and skills to assist a not-for-profit 

organisation. Employees can coordinate 

the volunteering themselves directly or 

participate in a coordinated project with 

their colleagues. Nine employees visited 

the Balhannah Centre in the Adelaide 

Hills in November 2006 to carry out a 

long-overdue upgrade of the respite 

facility for people with a terminal illness.  

Give Sick the Flick

SA Lotteries provided the Women’s & 

Children’s Hospital with 120 Give Sick the 

Flick family movie passes for distribution 

to long-term patients upon discharge 

from the high-dependency unit.  

Social responsibility
Maximising community benefits

Benefited more than  
75 South Australian community 
and not-for-profit organisations

Staff volunt
eering  

in the comm
unity
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Nursing staff recognition scheme

Nursing staff at the Women’s & 

Children’s Hospital were rewarded with 

an SA Lotteries corporate picnic pack via 

the Hospital’s Staff Recognition Scheme. 

SA Lotteries Symphony Sessions

A sponsorship program aimed at 

promoting the positive effects of 

music on health and wellbeing in 

the hospital community, SA Lotteries 

Symphony Sessions comprised 

a series of 10 special Adelaide 

Symphony Orchestra (ASO ) ensemble 

performances for patients at various 

wards of the Royal Adelaide Hospital. 

Adelaide Fringe visits hospitals  

A unique partnership between  

SA Lotteries and Adelaide Fringe 

brought the world’s second largest  

arts event to those not well enough to 

attend public performances. As a result 

of SA Lotteries’ involvement with the 

2007 event, Adelaide Fringe comedians 

gave four one-hour performances at 

Adelaide’s largest public hospitals in 

March 2007. 

Workplace giving

Various charities receive regular 

donations from employees 

via SA Lotteries’ ongoing 

Workplace Giving program. 

Community fundraising kits

For community fundraising purposes, 

more than 60 local clubs, schools, 

sporting groups and charities 

were provided with SA Lotteries’ 

Community Fundraising Kits. 

Tour Down Under

In conjunction with its sponsorship 

of the Tour Down Under Sprint Jersey, 

SA Lotteries distributed more than 

6000 free outdoor medical kits and 

2000 caps to race spectators. 

Minor sponsorship

Minor sponsorship support was 

extended to SA Medical Research Trust, 

Flinders Medical Centre Foundation 

and the Queen Elizabeth Hospital 

Research Foundation to assist with 

fundraising for these worthy causes. 

Blood donor program

More than 10 employees have 

donated in excess of 10 litres of blood 

to Red Cross as part of SA Lotteries’ 

Corporate Blood Donor Program.

Christmas wish promotion

The wishes of 10 South Australians 

were granted as part of SA Lotteries’ 

Christmas Wish promotion broadcast via 

radio partner, Triple M. The two-week 

promotion encouraged adult listeners 

to register their wishes on Triple M’s 

website in the lead-up to Christmas.

Christmas giving

SA Lotteries employees generously 

donated 55 Christmas gifts for South 

Australians in need via The Smith 

Family’s Wishing Tree initiative. 

Community event participation

Registration fees for participation 

in community-based events were 

reimbursed for 15 employees during 

the year. These events included 

the MS Society Quiz Night and 

the Mother’s Day Classic Fun Run 

for breast cancer research. 

Rotary corporate membership

SA Lotteries became a Rotary Corporate 

Member in August 2006, providing 

Executives with the opportunity to 

attend weekly networking luncheons.

Special appeal lotteries

SA Lotteries progressed legislative 

changes to the State Lotteries Act 

during the year to enable the conduct 

and promotion of special appeal 

lotteries that benefit State-based  

causes or disasters. Proclaimed on  

30 April 2007, the change to the State 

Lotteries Act requires 100 per cent  

of profits from special appeals to be 

distributed to the approved beneficiary.

SA Lotteries Sprint Jersey- Tour Down Under
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In an industry where integrity and 

security are paramount, SA Lotteries 

ensures the responsible delivery of 

its games via its 28-point responsible 

gambling compliance program.  Despite 

lotteries rarely being associated with 

problem gambling, SA Lotteries remains 

resolutely committed to the responsible 

promotion and conduct of its games. 

On 30 April 2007 the age to play 

lotteries in South Australia increased 

from 16 to 18 years. All SA Lotteries 

games are subject to the new age limit, 

which is consistent with the majority of 

Australia’s other states and territories.

Also effective on this date was a penalty 

increase from $500 to $5000 for selling a 

lottery ticket to a minor, buying a ticket 

or claiming a prize on behalf of a minor. 

SA Lotteries and its agent network 

welcomed the changes to complement 

SA Lotteries’ ongoing commitment to 

the promotion of responsible gambling. 

Codes of Practice review

The Independent Gambling Authority 

(IGA) released its Review 2006 –  

Regulatory Functions Report in 

May 2007 incorporating the Codes 

of Practice Second Stage Issues. 

As part of the review process, the IGA 

considered SA Lotteries’ submission on 

the proposed amendments to the Codes  

of Practice. SA Lotteries did not support 

several of the proposed changes; in 

particular the removal of Keno from 

retail premises, and the increase in 

the minimum age of those selling SA 

Lotteries products.  Both provisions 

would have significantly impacted on 

the profitability and viability of the 

small businesses that sell our games, 

and reduce employment opportunities 

within SA Lotteries’ agency network.

In its report, the IGA recommended 

to the Government that it take 

legislative or administrative 

initiatives to remove Keno from non-

licensed premises and that lottery 

products only be sold by adults.

However, the Government responded 

that these matters had previously 

been considered and that it had 

confidence in the existing provisions. 

As a result, Keno will remain in non-

licensed premises and people under 

the age of 18 will continue to be 

able to sell SA Lotteries’ products.

The IGA’s report also recommended 

making minor amendments to some 

existing first stage provisions within 

the State Lotteries Responsible 

Gambling and Advertising Codes 

of Practice. Of the eight additional 

measures determined by the IGA, the 

following proposed provisions have 

the potential to impact SA Lotteries’ 

operations and agency network:

> the implementation of a common, 

mandatory warning in gambling 

advertising, based on the “Gamble 

Responsibly” suite of messages, to 

be rotated on a six-monthly basis 

over a period of three years;

> significant limitations to on and  

in-venue signage;

> the mandatory development  

of relationships with counselling  

agencies; and

> the establishment of internal 

processes for the identification 

and reporting of potential 

problem gamblers.

SA Lotteries expects to receive  

advice from the IGA early in 2007-08  

as to whether the proposed 

provisions will apply to SA Lotteries 

(and its agent network), and the 

expected implementation date. 

Compliance program

SA Lotteries and its more than  

530-member agency network operate 

in strict accordance with the State 

Lotteries Responsible Gambling and 

Advertising Codes of Practice.  

SA Lotteries’ internal compliance 

program incorporates the requirements 

of the Codes of Practice. All SA Lotteries 

agents are audited at least once  

a year against 28 measures to ensure 

compliance with the Codes.

Of the 716 audits completed during 

the year, approximately 96 per cent 

found agents to be compliant with 

the requirements of the Codes. In all 

Social responsibility
Responsible gambling

Age to play lottery games 
increased from 16 to 18

Proof of age
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instances of non-compliance, agents 

were re-audited within two months to 

ensure remedial action had been taken. 

In most cases, the second audit found 

that the non-compliance issues had 

been addressed and, in all cases, the 

third audit confirmed that there were 

no outstanding non-compliance issues.

Responsible gambling training

In accordance with the State Lotteries 

Responsible Gambling Code of Practice, 

SA Lotteries provides responsible 

gambling training for all agents and 

relevant employees through Wesley  

4 Training (UnitingCare Wesley).  

A total of 192 agency staff received 

responsible gambling training 

accreditation during 2006-07.

SA Lotteries also continued a training 

program specifically for agency staff 

aged less than 18 years, ensuring that 

employment opportunities for South 

Australia’s youth are maximised and 

that individuals are appropriately 

prepared for their role in a responsible 

gambling environment. A total of 

41 agency staff under the age of 18 

received responsible gambling training.

As part of the Responsible Gambling 

Code of Practice, SA Lotteries must 

ensure that responsible gambling 

refresher training is provided to 

all staff at least every two years. 

Comprising of an abridged version 

of SA Lotteries’ original responsible 

gambling training module, the refresher 

training program was distributed to 

the agency network in June 2007 for 

completion via correspondence. 

The refresher training incorporates 

the introduction of new information 

associated with gambling Codes 

of Practice in South Australia and 

passive and active responsible 

gambling measures and reflects the 

implementation of SA Lotteries’ current 

responsible gambling provisions. 

Refresher training will be delivered to all 

agents on an ongoing basis as required.

Orientation for Break 
Even counsellors

SA Lotteries participated in Relationships 

Australia’s orientation program for the 

Break Even Help Line and concerned 

sector workers in December 2006 

by presenting an overview of its 

games, operations and efforts in 

promoting responsible gambling.

Eight gambling screen

SA Lotteries extended its commitment 

to promoting responsible gambling 

during the year by proactively 

publishing an early intervention 

gambling health test on its website. 

Called the Eight Gambling Screen, 

the test  was developed by Dr Sean 

Sullivan for the Problem Gambling 

Foundation of New Zealand and 

the Department of General Practice 

and Primary Health Care in the 

Auckland School of Medicine.

The objective of the test is to 

determine whether gambling is 

affecting the respondent’s health 

via a series of eight questions:

1.  Sometimes I’ve felt depressed or 

anxious after a session of gambling.

2.  Sometimes I’ve felt guilty 

about the way I gamble.

3.  When I think about it, gambling has 

sometimes caused me problems.

4.  Sometimes I’ve found it better 

not to tell others, especially my 

family, about the amount of time 

or money I spend gambling.

5.  I often find that when I stop 

gambling I’ve run out of money.

6.  Often I get the urge to return 

to gambling to win back 

losses from a past session.

7.  Yes, I have received criticism 

about my gambling in the past.

8.  Yes, I have tried to win 

money to pay debts. 

Respondents answering ‘yes’ to 

four or more questions are then 

prompted to information on 

problem gambling assistance.

Agents achieved a 96% 
compliance rating with the 
Codes of Practice

Agents - our interface  with our customers
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Sport - another big winner



STUDIO ARTIST: STUDIO MANAGER:PROOF READER:

ART DIRECTOR: WRITER:CREATIVE DIRECTOR:

ACCOUNT MANAGER: PRINT PRODUCER:CLIENT:

Annual Report 2006-07  |  33

$130 000 to recreation  
and sport in South Australia
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Of paramount importance to  

SA Lotteries is protecting the rights  

of its players and ensuring the secure 

payment of prizes.  Members of  

SA Lotteries’ agency network are 

carefully selected to ensure that the  

55 million tickets sold and 12.6 million 

prize claims carried out each year are 

done so with dedication and integrity. 

Easiplay Club membership

More than 179 000 South Australians  

are members of SA Lotteries’ Easiplay 

Club, representing 15 per cent of  

South Australia’s adult population. 

Easiplay Club is a free player service 

which provides a means for players to 

safeguard any prizes won on a lost, 

damaged or stolen ticket.  

Easiplay Club members also benefit 

from a ‘good news call’ should they win  

a Division One prize. During 2006-07,  

23 Easiplay Club members were 

notified of their good fortune the 

morning following the draw.  During 

the year, more than 137 000 prizes 

worth $5.6 million were conveniently 

directed to Easiplay Club members 

via cheque or a direct bank deposit.  

Website redevelopment

SA Lotteries launched its redeveloped 

website in January 2007 to meet the 

growing and ever-changing needs of 

Internet users. The site demonstrates 

best practice design architecture 

to allow consumers swift access to 

information. The results-focused 

homepage caters to the 90 per cent of 

visitors who access the site for game 

results, and also serves as an entry point 

to nearly 120 pages of information. 

The redeveloped website provides 

a more user-friendly browsing 

experience and also offers additional 

functionality to enable visitors to :

> generate the most frequently 

drawn numbers;

> submit their winning story to 

the online Winners Gallery;

> view a map, which clearly 

details the location of their 

nearest SA Lotteries’ agency. 

In just six months, the new website 

attracted a 30 per cent increase in the 

number of visits on the same period 

last year. The website also includes 

an expanded responsible play area, 

a list of South Australia’s lucky lottery 

hot spots, information on current 

unclaimed prizes and a dedicated 

frequently asked questions page. 

The website can be accessed 

at www.salotteries.com.au.

Lottery results on the go

SA Lotteries provided further choice and 

convenience to its players via the launch 

of its SMS results service.  The service 

delivers lottery game results directly to 

any mobile phone anywhere, anytime.

Access to lottery results is obtained 

by sending the relevant keyword based 

on the draw night as a text message 

to 19 RESULT after 8:25pm on the 

night of the relevant game draw. 

Social responsibility
Player services and security

137 000 prizes worth $5.6 
million automatically paid to 
registered members

30% increase in website  
visits in first six months
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Security and integrity

The following checklist reflects  

SA Lotteries’ commitment to protecting 

the security of our players and ensuring 

the integrity of its games. SA Lotteries will 

continue to review and incorporate player 

security enhancements during 2007-08.  

Prize claim process 

All non-winning tickets are branded 

‘not a winning ticket’. 

Terminal displays prize win 

information to customers. 

Major prizes over $5000 (including 

Divisions One and Two) 

must be claimed directly from 

SA Lotteries Head Office. 

Prize receipt, including information 

on the prize claim, is produced 

and provided to the customer.

Player name printed on ticket 

for Easiplay Club members.

Exgratia payment  

considered for lost unregistered 

tickets after investigation.

SA Lotteries offers prize 

payment by cheque or electronic 

funds transfer (EFT).

Player awareness 

Player registration service 

offered free of charge.

Active campaign to promote 

player registration.

Dedicated information for claiming 

prizes on SA Lotteries website.

Dedicated lottery scam alert 

area on SA Lotteries website.

List of unclaimed prizes published 

on SA Lotteries website.

Results availability 

Registered Division One prize 

winners contacted by telephone.

Results available on free 

to air television station.

Results available on  

SA Lotteries website.

Results available via a Interactive 

Voice Response telephone system.

Results disseminated to media.

Results sent directly via email.

Results sent directly via SMS  

to mobiles.

Agent integrity and security

Agents required to obtain 

prescribed range of business insurance.

Agents regularly reminded that  

they must return all non-winning tickets  

and receipts.

National police checks undertaken 

for all agent applications.

Agents are provided with South 

Australian Police fraud and scam alerts.

Wealth 
insura

nce
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Our agents

More than 1200 applications for lottery 

agencies were received in 1967 from 

would-be agents to ensure lottery 

play was convenient to players in 

all of South Australia’s major towns. 

Today, SA Lotteries’ agency network 

of more than 530 diverse businesses 

including newsagents, delicatessens, 

chemists, supermarkets, kiosks, 

service stations, hotels and clubs 

continues to provide convenient 

access to our broad customer base.

Distribution of agents by business type 

and location as at 30 June 2007: 

Metro agents Regional agents

Retail 241 90

Licensed 136 67

Total 377 157

Agent extranet

The development of an agent extranet, 

Network News, was progressed during 

the year with the purpose of providing 

our agency network controlled 

access via the internet to information 

specific to their lottery business. 

The site, which provides limited access 

and secure protocol for authenticating 

users, will be the primary resource for 

all agent-related information including 

training manuals, sales tips and 

corporate fit-out products. It is expected 

that the agent extranet will be launched 

to the agent network early in 2007-08. 

Advanced agent training

SA Lotteries significantly expanded its 

agent training program to cultivate 

and maintain a business partnership 

philosophy and ensure that agents 

receive an advanced level of training 

in selling SA Lotteries games. 

A tailored training facility was 

established and is now the site for the 

expanded agent training program 

for owners and managers that covers 

the topics of product knowledge, 

terminal operation, compliance, 

security, equipment maintenance, 

merchandising and selling skills, and 

managing an agency. A one-day 

condensed version of the training 

program is also available to agency staff. 

Listening to our agents

The Agent Reference Group (ARG)  

was established in January 1996 to 

strengthen the relationship between  

SA Lotteries and its agency network and 

to provide a forum for the presentation 

of new ideas or concepts that may 

affect agents prior to finalisation. 

During the year, the ARG continued to 

provide valuable input into SA Lotteries’ 

marketing and promotional strategies. 

Five new members were welcomed 

to the group, replacing five members 

who had completed their term.

SA Lotteries acknowledges and 

appreciates the contribution made 

by the retiring representatives:

> Neil Cole (Seaford Newsagency)

> Carolyn Neindorf (Cobdogla and 

District Community Club)

> Ann Laing (Flinders Park IGA Everyday)

> Lee Russell (Burton Road Super Deli)

> David Nicholas (Lotteries Kiosk Arndale).

The ARG currently comprises 

the following agents:

> Leah Mills (Nuriootpa Newsagency)

> Jo-Anne Neindorf (Neindorf’s IGA 

Friendly Grocer, Tumby Bay)

> Michael Mason (Federal Hotel,  

Peterborough) 

> Helen Tink (Bordertown Newsagency)

> June Carter (Glenside Newsagency  

and Stationers)

> Peter Tregoweth (Oak Plaza 

Newsagency, Stirling)

> Alf Spronk (Giftland, Noarlunga Centre)

> Cameron Taylor (Para Hills 

Community Club)

> Wally Woehlert (Bridgeway Hotel,  

Pooraka)

> Dianne Dissel (Dissel’s Findon 

Road Newsagency).

Social responsibility
Business partners and relations

$25.8 million in commission 
paid to our agent network, 
predominantly small 
businesses
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Recognising business excellence

SA Lotteries hosted its Agency 

Excellence Awards at the Hyatt 

Regency Adelaide in September 

2006, when Castle Plaza Lotteries 

Kiosk at Edwardstown was awarded 

the Agency of the Year title for 

the second year in a row.

Agency Excellence Awards are 

designed to recognise and reward 

excellence within SA Lotteries’ retail 

and licensed agency network, with 

award winners determined based 

on set performance criteria. 

A total of 15 awards were presented 

at a cocktail function, with Mount 

Barker Central Newsagency judged 

Best Country Newsagency and 

Campbell’s Newsagency at Oaklands 

Park in Westfield Marion awarded Best 

Newsagency in the metropolitan area.

The following SA Lotteries agencies also   

enjoyed award success 

collecting the 2005-06 awards for 

their respective business groups:

> Best Redeveloped Agency 

– Clovercrest Newsagency, Modbury

> Easiplay Club Agency of the Year 

– Westland Newsagency, Whyalla

> Best Hotel/Club (Country) 

– Naracoorte Hotel Motel

> Best Hotel/Club/Casino (Metro) 

– Links Taverner, Seaton

> Most Improved Licensed Agency 

(Country) – Robe Hotel 

> Most Improved Licensed Agency 

(Metro) – Kensington Hotel 

> Best Chemist/Kiosk/Other 

(Country) – Sampson & Schultz 

Pharmacy, Port Lincoln

> Best Delicatessen/Supermarket 

(Country) – Camo’s Deli, Millicent

> Best Delicatessen/Supermarket 

(Metro) – Sunnyside Coffee 

& More, Christies Beach

> Most Improved Retail Agency 

(Country) – Playford Avenue 

Newsagency, Whyalla

> Most Improved Retail Agency (Metro) 

– City Cross Lotteries, Adelaide

For the first time, SA Lotteries will 

present its Agency Excellence 

Awards via a series of regional 

events in October 2007. 

Inaugural agent golf day

As part of its Corporate Social 

Responsibility Program, SA Lotteries 

hosted an inaugural corporate golf day 

for its agency network at Royal Adelaide 

Golf Club on Monday 30 April 2007.  

In total, more than 85 guests attended 

what will now become an annual event. 

Supporting the industry

Support of the key industry bodies  

that represent members of SA Lotteries’ 

agency network continued during  

the year, including sponsorship of the 

Australian Newsagents’ Federation  

(SA Branch), Australian Hotels 

Association (SA) and Clubs SA.  

Celebrating good luck

SA Lotteries has designed an  

exclusive gift hamper for agents  

who sell a Division One prize-winning 

ticket, with 66 congratulatory gift 

hampers distributed to agencies 

throughout the year.

 

Our winners on the other 

side of the counter

Driving for excellence
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Our suppliers

SA Lotteries’ suppliers play a crucial  

part in the organisation’s success.  

SA Lotteries’ ability to create prosperity 

through the responsible promotion  

and conduct of lotteries is only  

achieved through the support of reliable  

and dedicated suppliers who share  

SA Lotteries’ commitment to excellence.

SA Lotteries’ best practice procurement 

commitment is reflected by an open 

and transparent acquisition process.  

All procurements of goods and services 

valued at $55 000 (inclusive of GST) or 

more are subject to a call for tenders to 

enable all eligible suppliers to submit 

an offer. Contracts are awarded on 

the basis of pre-established criteria to 

ensure that SA Lotteries obtains the best 

value for money and quality of services.

The State Procurement Board approved 

a procurement authority level for  

SA Lotteries of $1.1 million, effective from 

1 July 2006 ($385 000 at 30 June 2006). 

SA Lotteries’ commitment to 

procurement is reflected in our 

Corporate Social Responsibility program 

and includes initiatives such as:

> quarterly rating of existing suppliers 

to ensure suppliers deliver on 

price, quality and service

> quality management review 

of the Suppliers Register

> assessing each tenderer’s 

corporate, social and environmental 

contributions to the community 

during the tender evaluation process.

The total number of suppliers providing 

services or products to SA Lotteries in 

2006-07 was 371, accounting for $16.5 

million. SA Lotteries is pleased to report 

that 72 per cent of suppliers were South 

Australian, exceeding its target of 71 

per cent. More than $8.8 million was 

paid to 267 suppliers across the State.

Account payment performance

Consultants engaged

Social responsibility
Business partners and relations

Particulars

Number of 

Accounts Paid % of Accounts Paid

Value in A$ of 

Accounts Paid

% of Account 

Paid (by value)

Paid by due date 3 266 99.15% $14 578 795 99.15%

Paid late but paid 

within 30 days 

of the due date

28 0.85% $125 371 0.85%

Expenditure Range Consultant Services Provided

$10 000 to $50 000 Mercer Human 

Resource Consulting

Actuarial valuation of 

superannuation plan

Adstat Solutions Statistical review

More than $8.8 million paid to 
267 South Australian suppliers
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The Bloc

SA Lotteries participates in multi-

jurisdictional (Bloc) arrangements with 

other Australian lottery operators, 

New South Wales Lotteries, Tattersall’s 

(Victoria), Golden Casket (Queensland) 

and Lotterywest (Western Australia). 

The Bloc pools money to allow players 

access to larger jackpots while the 

licensing structure and operations 

of each lottery operator remain 

independent and autonomous.

During the year the Executive 

Committees of the various Blocs 

met regularly, with SA Lotteries 

hosting the May 2007 meeting. 

In 2006-07, SA Lotteries continued its 

role as Bloc Secretariat Administrator 

and Game Administrator for the 

Australian Soccer Pools Bloc.

International associations

SA Lotteries values the information 

sharing and networking opportunities 

available as a result of its international 

lotteries industry membership associations.

SA Lotteries hosted two international 

delegations from the Asia Pacific region 

during the year.  In October 2006, 

representatives from Japan Lottery 

Systems Inc and Japan Lottery Research 

Centre visited SA Lotteries to learn 

about its agency network, registration 

program and advertising requirements. 

In June 2007, SA Lotteries welcomed 

visitors from the Shanghai Welfare  

Lottery Issuing Centre, who were 

interested in learning about  

SA Lotteries’ online game design,  

market research and retail operations. 

SA Lotteries’ two key international 

association memberships are:

Asia Pacific Lottery Association (APLA)

SA Lotteries is a Member of the Asia 

Pacific Lottery Association, which is 

one of five regional associations in 

the lotteries industry worldwide and 

represents lottery organisations from 

countries within the Asia Pacific region.

SA Lotteries’ Chief Executive was 

elected for a further two-year term as 

Vice Chairperson on APLA’s Executive 

Committee and, since November 2006, 

SA Lotteries has hosted the Secretariat 

Administrator role on behalf of APLA. 

The Executive Committee met on 

two occasions during the year. 

World Lottery Association (WLA)

SA Lotteries is a Member of the World 

Lottery Association, an international 

member organisation. SA Lotteries  

is an APLA representative on the  

WLA’s Corporate Social Responsibility 

Committee and the Global Legal 

Network Group.

In November 2006, SA Lotteries 

was represented at the WLA 

Convention and Trade Show in 

Singapore, which was hosted by 

Singapore Pools (Private) Limited, 

the lottery operator in Singapore.

Hosting international guests
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SA Lotteries is committed to 

efficient energy usage to minimise 

costs, reduce its greenhouse 

gas emissions and reduce waste 

associated with its products.

Greenhouse gas emissions

SA Lotteries is committed to 

reducing the environmental impacts 

of its business and has decreased 

its greenhouse gas emissions 

four years ahead of its target. 

In July 2006, SA Lotteries’ main 

energy account was transferred to 

the whole-of-government energy 

contract, with 15 per cent of all 

energy purchased under this contract 

generated from renewable sources.

Dual-fuel vehicles

During 2006-07, three more SA Lotteries 

vehicles were replaced with dual-fuel  

models and two were replaced with 

energy efficient diesel vans. This 

brings the total of SA Lotteries’ fleet 

of SA Government-plated vehicles 

now operating on emission-friendly, 

energy-efficient fuel systems to 

77 per cent. The replacement 

program will continue in 2007-08.

Sensor switches

To minimise energy usage, sensor 

switches were installed throughout  

SA Lotteries’ head office during the  

year, with this program to be expanded 

in 2007-08 to include SA Lotteries’ 

distribution warehouse.

Recycling computer equipment

SA Lotteries continued to donate 

computer and IT equipment to 

various charities in 2006-07.

Recycling 

To encourage recycling and the 

responsible disposal of SA Lotteries’ 

tickets a ‘100% recyclable’ logo 

was incorporated on all terminal-

generated tickets during the year.

The recycling bins located at  

SA Lotteries’ head office are collected 

on a weekly basis. The amount of paper 

being recycled has steadily increased 

during the year, as employees become 

increasingly aware of the positive impact 

of recycling on the environment. Paper 

usage and ordering will be monitored 

on a quarterly basis in 2007-08.

In an attempt to promote recycling 

among the agency network, 

SA Lotteries has identified each 

agency’s local council so that local 

area recycling opportunities can 

be utilised. This initiative will be 

further developed in 2007-08. 

Business Clean Up Day

In February 2007, a team of employees 

participated in Business Clean Up Day 

to beautify the parklands area adjacent 

to the SA Lotteries head office. 

Performance against annual 
energy use targets

Social responsibility
Minimising our impact on the environment

Period 
(Year)

Energy 
use (Gjs) Expenditure

Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions 

(Kg CO2)

2000-01 
(Base)

3 864 $116 165 1 181 764

2001-02 3 961 $133 903 1 220 894

2002-03 3 897 $135 009 1 201 064

2003-04 3 861 $137 124 1 117 889

2004-05 3 814 $147 033 1 129 975

2005-06 2 864 $113 535 882 582

Target 
2006-07

2 778 N/A* 856 105

2006-07 2 922 $106 476 813 081

Interim 
target 
2009-10

3 258 N/A* 1004 499

Final 
target 
2013-14

2 876 N/A* 886 323

*Financial targets are not set as energy prices are subjec t  
to market fluc tuations

7.9% reduction in  
greenhouse gas emissions

Our clean up team
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SA Lotteries’ core values of integrity, 

accountability and respect are shared by 

a team of 82 dedicated and committed 

employees, each determined to ensure 

SA Lotteries meets market expectations 

and remains relevant to the community.

SA Lotteries promotes a high 

performance culture through a 

broad base of strong leadership, 

system and process innovation, 

and employee development. 

Leadership development 
program

The objective of SA Lotteries’ 

Leadership Development Program 

is to build a leadership-based 

performance culture and to ensure 

adequate succession planning. 

Three high-potential employees 

participated in workshops, one- 

on-one coaching, preparation and 

presentation of a learning assignment, 

and 360-degree reviews. The findings 

and recommendations were endorsed 

by the organisation. 

The leadership development 

program will continue in 2007-08.

Qualified workforce

SA Lotteries’ workforce includes a high 

level of qualified personnel with 58 per 

cent of employees having a vocational 

or higher education qualification.

Employee graduate program

SA Lotteries and the University of South 

Australia once again joined forces to 

offer a graduate marketing internship. 

In January 2007, a marketing graduate 

commenced a 12 month placement 

within the marketing department. 

Performance development

SA Lotteries has a performance 

management process in place to ensure 

all staff members understand their 

roles and receive regular feedback and 

recognition of their performance.

Through the use of a three-phase 

performance management system, 80 

per cent of all employees participated in 

a documented individual performance 

development review or plan in 2006-07.

Employees with... % of total workforce

A review or plan 

within the past 

12 months

80

A review or 

plan older than 

12 months

4

No review 16

Training and development

To meet planned training and 

development requirements,  

1.79 per cent of base salary costs  

were committed to training during 

2006-07, with 68 employees  

(83 per cent of staff) participating  

in training courses.

Study assistance and study leave 

is also available to SA Lotteries’ 

full-time and permanent part-

time employees, subject to the 

relevance of the proposed study 

and operational requirements. In 

2006-07, SA Lotteries supported one 

employee with study assistance.

Leadership and management 
training expenditure

Training and 
development Total cost

% of total 
renumeration 
expenditure

Total training and 
development 
expenditure

$153 965 2.49

Total 
leadership and 
management 
expenditure

$110 836 1.80

*Total remuneration costs include base salary costs plus 
associated costs such as registration fees and travelling 
expenses etc.

Positions with customer 
service reflective in job and 
person specification

Positions %

Positions with customer 

service reflected in the job 

and person specification.

86

Positions without customer 

service reflected in the job 

and person specification

14

A healthy workplace 

SA Lotteries provides its employees 

with a safe and modern working 

environment. In an effort to promote 

a healthy workplace, SA Lotteries 

provided annual subsidised influenza 

vaccinations for employees. 

In 2006-07, workstation assessments 

were provided for employees, as 

required. A professional ergonomist 

conducted the assessments and all 

recommended modifications were 

made and equipment provided.

Social responsibility
Our employees
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Employee assistance program

The Employee Assistance Program is a 

service offered to employees to provide 

confidential guidance and advice for 

personal and work-related matters. 

Equal employment opportunity

SA Lotteries is an equal opportunity 

employer, ensuring that all persons 

seeking employment are treated  

fairly and equitably and are not 

subjected to unlawful discrimination  

or harassment. During the year, there 

were no recorded breaches of the  

SA Lotteries’ Equal Opportunity Policy.

Voluntary flexible working 
arrangements

SA Lotteries provides a flexible working 

environment to assist in balancing 

work and family responsibilities. 

During the year, 23 per cent of 

employees participated in a voluntary 

flexible working arrangement.

Male Female Total

Purchased leave - - -

Flexible hours 4 6 10

Compressed weeks - - -

Part time job share 2 7 9

Working from 

home

- - -

Leave management

A reduced level of sick and family leave 

days taken per full-time equivalent 

was maintained. All staff were 

encouraged to take their full annual 

leave allocation in the year of accrual.

Average days leave taken per 
full-time equivalent employee

Leave type

2003-

04

2004-

05

2005-

06

2006-

07

Sick leave 

taken*

9.1 8.6 6.0 6.8

Family carer’s 

leave taken

1.0 0.7 0.9 0.7

Miscellaneous 

special leave

0.3 0.5 0.3 0.5

* Figures incorporate paid and unpaid sick leave.

Disability Discrimination 
Action Plan

SA Lotteries developed a Disability 

Discrimination Action Plan in July 1998, 

following consultation with disabled 

persons and associations assisting 

the disabled in South Australia. 

The plan identifies barriers and 

recommends strategies for 

eliminating those barriers. Ongoing 

monitoring of these strategies 

continued throughout 2006-07.

Number of employees with 
ongoing disabilities requiring 
workplace adaptation

Male Female Total % of agency

- 1 1 1.2

Employee breakdown

Persons (as at 30 June 2007): 82

Full-Time Equivalent employee 

numbers as at 30 June 2007: 78.65

Gender % male: 50

Gender % female: 50

Gender % male FTEs: 51

Gender % female FTEs: 49

Number of persons separated 

from SA Lotteries during the 

2006-07 financial year: 17

Number of persons recruited to SA Lotteries 

during the 2006-07 financial year: 20

Number of persons on leave 

without pay at 30 June 2007: 1

Social responsibility
Our employees

Our frie
ndly fac

es



STUDIO ARTIST: STUDIO MANAGER:PROOF READER:

ART DIRECTOR: WRITER:CREATIVE DIRECTOR:

ACCOUNT MANAGER: PRINT PRODUCER:CLIENT:

Annual Report 2006-07  |  43

Status of employees in current 
position (as at 30 June 2007)

Ongoing

Male: 35.40 

Female: 36.25

Total: 71.65

Short-Term contract

Male: 1 

Female: 1

Total: 2

Long-Term contract

Male: 4

Female: 1 

Total: 5

Other (Casual)

Male: Nil 

Female: Nil

Total: Nil

Total

Male: 40.40  

Female: 38.25

Total: 78.65

80.65 FTE as at last pay period in June 2007

Status of employees in current 
position (as at 30 June 2007)

Ongoing

Male: 36  

Female: 39

Total: 75

Short-Term contract

Female: 1

Male: 1

Total: 2

Long-Term contract

Male: 4  

Female: 1

Total: 5

Other (Casual)

Male: Nil 

Female: Nil

Total: Nil

Total

Male: 41  

Female: 41

Total: 82

84 employees as at last pay period in June 2007

Executives by gender, 
classification and status

Classification

Contract 
tenured

Contract 
untenured Total

M F M F M F Total

Level D - - - 1 - 1 1

Level B - - 1 - 1 - 1

Level A - - 3 - 3 - 3

Total - - 4 1 4 1 5

Employees by age 
bracket by gender

Age 
bracket M F Total

% 
Total

Workforce 
benchmark

15-19 - - - - 6.7

20-24 - 5 5 6.1 10.5

25-29 8 4 12 14.6 10.2

30-34 7 6 13 15.9 9.9

35-39 5 5 10 12.2 11.2

40-44 5 6 11 13.4 11.9

45-49 7 4 11 13.4 12.3

50-54 7 1 8 9.8 11.3

55-59 1 6 7 8.5 8.6

60-64 1 3 4 4.9 5.0

65+ - 1 1 1.2 2.4

Total 41 41 82 100 100

*Source : Australian Bureau of Statistics Australian 
Demographic Statistics, Labour Force Status (ST LM8) by 
age, sex, state, marital status – employed – total from Feb 
78 Supertable, South Australia at March 2007
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Number of employees 
by salary bracket

Salary bracket Male Female Total

$0-$43 999 7 12 19

$44 000-

$56 999

14 12 26

$57 000-

$72 999

11 9 20

$73 000-

$91 999

5 7 12

$92 000+ 4 1 5

   Total 41 41 82

  

Number of Aboriginal and/or 
Torres Strait Islander employees

Male Female Total % of Agency Target*

- - - - 2.0%

*Target from South Australia’s plan.

Cultural and linguistic diversity

M F Total
% of 

Agency
SA 

Community*

Employees 
born 
overseas

9 7 16 19.5 20.3%

Employees 
who speak 
language(s) 
other than 
English at 
home.

2 2 4 4.9 15.5%

Total 11 9 20 24.4

* Benchmarks from ABS Publication Basic Community 
Profile (SA) Cat No. 2001.0.

Occupational health and safety

SA Lotteries is committed to ensuring, 

so far as is reasonably practicable,  

that all employees are safe from  

injury and risk to health while at work. 

This is achieved by striving to continually 

improve health and safety systems  

and practices, and by comparing  

these against industry standards.  

During 2006-07, the following health 

and safety activities took place:  

 > Review of all occupational   

 health and safety policies,  

 guidelines and procedures. 

 > An annual occupational health and  

 safety inspection of premises. 

 > Fire Warden and First Aid training 

 for relevant employees.

 > Driver training and education    

 for employees who drive   

  Government-plated vehicles.

 > Quarterly occupational health   

 and safety committee meetings.

Occupational health, safety 
and injury management 

1. OH&S legislative requirements  

Number of notifiable 

occurrences pursuant to OHS&W 

Regulations Division 6.6:

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 Nil

2004-05 Nil

Number of notifiable injuries pursuant 

to OHS&W Regulations Division 6.6: 

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 Nil

2004-05 Nil

Number of notices served pursuant 

to OHS&W Act S35, S39 and S40:

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 Nil

2004-05 Nil

Social responsibility
Our employees
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2. Injury management 

legislative requirements 

Total number of employees 

who participated in the 

rehabilitation program :

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 Nil

2004-05 Nil

Total number of employees 

rehabilitated and reassigned 

to alternative duties:

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 Nil

2004-05 Nil

Total number of employees 

rehabilitated back to 

their original work:

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 Nil

2004-05 Nil

Number of open claims 

as at 30 June 2007:

2006-07 1

2005-06 1

2004-05 1

Percentage of workers’ 

compensation expenditure over 

gross annual remuneration:

2006-07 0.32%

2005-06 0.27%

2004-05 0.34%

3. Number of claims 

Number of new workers’ 

compensation claims in 

this financial year:

2006-07 2

2005-06 4

2004-05 2

Number of fatalities :

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 Nil

2004-05 Nil

Number of lost time injuries:

2006-07 2

2005-06 2

2004-05 3

Number of medical treatment only: 

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 2

2004-05 Nil

Total number of whole 

working days lost:

2006-07 11

2005-06 2

2004-05 36

4. Cost of workers compensation  

Cost of new claims for financial year:

2006-07 $1,897

2005-06 $306

2004-05 $6,744

Cost of all claims excluding 

lump sum payments:  

2006-07 $4,066

2005-06 $14,958

2004-05 $24,137

Amount paid for lump sum 

payments on the settlement 

of a claim (s42,s43,s44):

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 Nil

2004-05 Nil

Total amount recovered from 

external sources (s54) including 

from a negligent third party: 

2006-07 Nil

2005-06 Nil

2004-05 Nil

Budget allocation for 

workers’ compensation:

2006-07 $85,096

2005-06 $122,520

2004-05 $115,200
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5. Trends 

 Injury frequency rate for new 

lost-time injury/disease for 

each million hours worked:

2006-07 15.37

2005-06 15.29

2004-05 15.09

 Most frequent cause 

(mechanism) of injury:

2006-07 Slips, trips and 

falls/ Manual handling

2005-06 Manual handling

2004-05 Manual handling

 Most expensive cause 

(mechanism) of injury: 

2006-07 Slips, trips and falls

2005-06 Slips, trips and falls

2004-05 Manual handling

Overseas travel by  
SA Lotteries employees

Destination Singapore

Reason for Travel World Lottery 

Association Convention and Trade 

Show 2006, 12 – 17 November 

No. of Employees 5

Total Cost * $38 352
*Total cost includes airfares, accommodation, meals and 
registration fees.  It does not include any salary or salary-
related costs.

Social responsibility
Our employees
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The year ahead

South Australia’s Strategic 
Plan Objective SA Lotteries’ Goals SA Lotteries’ 2007-08 Outlook

Growing Prosperity To promote, conduct and distribute 
lotteries games in a responsible 
manner to generate wealth for 
the South Australian community.

> Add value to games through innovative promotions 
and enhancements to existing games.

> Enhance relationship with existing agents respecting 
the links between their business and SA Lotteries.

> Ensure that our distribution network 
meets customer expectations.

> Continue to provide customers and agents 
with a reliable Online Lotteries System.

> Continue with the planned activities to achieve 
replacement of the Online Lotteries System in 2009.

Fostering Creativity > Increase level of internet use by agents, Easiplay 
Club members and SA Lotteries players.

Improving Wellbeing To be a corporately responsible and 
respected organisation that has a 
broad base of community support.

> Continue the Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) program.

> Ensure continued compliance with the State Lotteries 
Responsible Gambling and Advertising Codes of Practice.

> Increase the level of public recognition of 
the role that SA Lotteries plays in benefiting 
the community of South Australia.

Attaining Sustainability > Reduce energy consumption and greenhouse gas 
emissions to minimise our impact on the environment.

> Implement a recycling program at head 
office and continue to encourage recycling 
within the agency network.

Growing Prosperity To improve productivity by 
optimising the use of assets 
and pursuing the most 
effective work practices.

> Minimise organisation cost structures and charges.

> Launch Network News, an agent-only website 
providing all agent-related information.

Expanding Opportunity > Continue the Leadership Development Program.

> Maintain the number of employees with 
vocational or higher education qualifications.

> Ensure the amount spent on employee training 
and development meets industry benchmarks.
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Note
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Income

Sales revenue 6 349 246 348 088

Cost of sales 7 306 145 304 644

Gross margin 43 101 43 444

Interest revenue 3 083 2 793

Other revenues 8 4 404 4 246

Total income 50 588 50 483

Expenses

Employee benefits expenses 9 6 541 5 837

Supplies and services 10 13 765 14 270

Depreciation and amortisation expense 11 3 201 2 929

Borrowing costs 95 213

Total expenses 23 602 23 249

Profit before income tax equivalent 26 986 27 234

Income tax equivalent expense 8 096 8 170

Net profit after income tax equivalent 18 890 19 064

Net profit after income tax equivalent is attributable to the SA Government as owner.

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 53 to 71.

Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2007
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Note
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14 48 980 51 713

Receivables 15 29 025 1 665

Inventories 473 453

Total current assets 78 478 53 831

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 16 11 321 12 197

Intangible assets 17 143 129

Other non-current assets 18 1 082 788

Total non-current assets 12 546 13 114

Total assets 91 024 66 945

Current liabilities

Payables 19 49 151 22 010

Short-term borrowings 20 554 1 738

Short-term employee benefits 21 731 627

Other current liabilities 22 8 155 10 274

Total current liabilities 58 591 34 649

Non-current liabilities

Payables 19 28 47

Long-term borrowings 20 6 512

Long-term employee benefits 21 669 616

Other non-current liabilities 22 5 829 5 016

Total non-current liabilities 6 532 6 191

Total liabilities 65 123 40 840

Net assets 25 901 26 105

Equity

Funds retained for capital purposes 636 636

Reserves 25 265 25 469

Retained earnings - -

Total equity 25 901 26 105

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2007

The Total Equity is attributable to the SA Government as owner.

Commitments  24 

Contingent assets and liabilities  25

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 53 to 71.
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Funds Retained 
for Capital 
Purposes

$’000

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve
$’000

Building 
Maintenance 

Reserve
$’000

Capital Asset  
Reserve 

(Note 23)
$’000

Keno Prize 
Reserve

$’000

Retained 
Earnings

$’000
Total
$’000

Balance at 30 June 2005 636 7 871 94 15 563 1 833 - 25 997

Profit after income tax equivalent
for 2005-06

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
19 064

 
19 064

Transfers

    > from Retained earnings
    > to Retained earnings

- - - 2 000 1 176 (3 176) -

- - - (1 300) (1 768) 3 068 -

Dividend contribution 
to SA Government

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
(18 956)

 
(18 956)

Balance at 30 June 2006 636 7 871 94 16 263 1 241 - 26 105

Profit after income tax 
equivalent for 2006-07

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
18 890

 
18 890

Transfers

    > from Retained earnings
    > to Retained earnings

- - - 2 000 1 421 (3 421) -

- - - (1 541) (2 466) 4 007 -

Gain on revaluation of property 
in 2006-07 (Note 16) - 382 - - - -       382

Dividend contribution 
to SA Government

- - -
- - (19 476) (19 476)

Balance at 30 June 2007 636 8 253 94 16 722 196 - 25 901

All Changes in Equity are attributable to the SA Government as owner. 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on  

pages 53 to 71.

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2007
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Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June 2007

Note
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash inflows

Receipts from customers 324 256 328 184

Interest received 3 053 2 781

GST receipts on sales 419 439

Cash received from operations 327 728 331 404

Cash outflows

Prizes paid (206 227) (206 385)

Payments to suppliers and employees (excluding GST) (20 137) (21 351)

GST payments to the Australian Tax office (8 956) (8 939)

GST payments on purchases (4 113) (4 142)

Interest paid (125) (213)

Cash used in operations (239 558) (241 030)

Net cash provided by operating activities 26 88 170 90 374

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash inflows

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5 -

Cash outflows

Purchase of property,  plant and equipment (1 437) (871)

Purchase of tangible assets (145) (17)

Net cash used in investing activities (1 577) (888)

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash outflows

Repayment of borrowings (1 690) (1 637)

Distribution to the Hospitals Fund and the Recreation and Sport Fund

> Gambling tax 27 (56 998) (57 397)

> Dividends 27 (20 258) (17 943)

> Unclaimed prizes 27 (1 964) (1 358)

Distribution to the Hospitals Fund for income tax equivalent 27 (8 416) (7 701)

Net cash used in financing activities (89 326) (86 036)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2 733) 3 450

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 51 713 48 263

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 26 48 980 51 713

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 53 to 71.
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Objectives of SA Lotteries Note 1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  Note 2

Financial Risk Management  Note 3

Changes in Accounting Policies  Note 4

Segment Reporting  Note 5

Income Notes

Sales revenue Note 6

Cost of sales Note 7

Other revenues Note 8

Expense Notes

Employee benefits expenses Note 9

Supplies and services Note 10

Depreciation and amortisation expense Note 11

Auditor’s remuneration Note 12

Net loss on disposal of non-current assets Note 13

Asset Notes

Cash and cash equivalents Note 14

Receivables Note 15

Property, plant and equipment Note 16

Intangible assets Note 17

Other non-current assets Note 18

Liabilities Notes

Payables Note 19

Borrowings Note 20

Employee benefits Note 21

Other liabilities Note 22

Other Notes

Capital asset reserve Note 23

Commitments Note 24

Contingent assets and liabilities Note 25

Cash flow reconciliation Note 26

Distribution of funds to SA Government Note 27

Superannuation Note 28

Transactions with SA Government Note 29

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2007
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1. Objectives of SA Lotteries

The Lotteries Commission of South 

Australia (SA Lotteries) commenced 

operations on 15 May 1967 with the 

primary function of promoting and 

conducting lotteries in South Australia 

in accordance with the provisions 

of the State Lotteries Act 1966.

2. Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Accounting

The financial report is a general purpose 

financial report.  The financial report 

has been prepared in accordance 

with applicable Australian Accounting 

Standards and Treasurer’s Instructions 

and Accounting Policy Statements 

promulgated under the provisions of 

the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987.

Statement of Compliance

Australian accounting standards 

include Australian equivalents to 

International Financial Reporting 

Standards.  Except for the amendments 

to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 

Statements, which SA Lotteries has 

early-adopted, Australian Accounting 

Standards and interpretations that 

have recently been issued or amended 

but are not yet effective have not 

been adopted by SA Lotteries for the 

reporting period ending 30 June 2007.

SA Lotteries’ Income Statement, 

Balance Sheet and Statement 

of Changes in Equity have been 

prepared on an accrual basis and are 

in accordance with the historical cost 

convention, except for certain assets 

that were valued in accordance with 

the valuation policy applicable.

The preparation of the 

financial report requires:

> the use of certain accounting 

estimates and requires management 

to exercise its judgement in the 

process of applying SA Lotteries’ 

accounting policies.  The areas 

involving a higher degree of 

judgement or where assumptions 

and estimates are significant to the 

financial statements are outlined 

in the applicable notes; and

> compliance with Accounting Policy 

Statements issued pursuant to section 

41 of the Public Finance and Audit 

Act 1987, by authority of Treasurer’s 

Instruction 19 Financial Reporting.  In 

the interest of public accountability 

and transparency the Accounting 

Policy Statements require the 

following note disclosures, that have 

been included in this financial report:

(a)  revenues, expenses, financial 

assets and liabilities where the 

counterparty/transaction is 

with an entity within the SA 

Government as at reporting date, 

classified according to their nature;

(b)  expenses incurred as a result 

of engaging consultants (the 

term Consultant is defined in 

Accounting Policy Framework 

APF II General Purpose Financial 

Reporting Framework, APS 4.6.);

(c)  employee targeted voluntary 

separation package 

information; and

(d)  employees whose normal 

remuneration is $100 000 or more 

(within $10 000 bandwidths) and 

the aggregate of the remuneration 

paid or payable or otherwise made 

available, directly or indirectly by 

the entity to those employees.

The financial report has been 

prepared based on a twelve 

month operating cycle and is 

presented in Australian currency.

The Reporting Entity comprises 

the Lotteries Commission of 

South Australia only.

(b) Comparative Information

The presentation and classification 

of items in the financial report are 

consistent with prior periods except 

where a specific Accounting Policy 

Statement or Australian Accounting 

Standard have required a change.

Where presentation or classification 

of items in the financial report 

has been amended, comparative 

amounts have been reclassified unless 

reclassification is impracticable.

The restated comparative amounts 

do not replace the original financial 

report for the preceding period.

(c) Rounding

All amounts in the financial statements 

have been rounded to the nearest 

thousand dollars ($’000).  

(d) Taxation

Tax Equivalent Regime

In accordance with Treasurer’s 

Instruction 22 Tax Equivalent Payments, 

SA Lotteries is required to pay to the 

State Government an income tax 

equivalent.  The income tax liability is 
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based on the State Taxation Equivalent 

Regime, which applies the accounting 

profit method.  This requires that the 

corporate income tax rate be applied 

to the net profit.  Temporary differences 

do not arise.  The current income 

tax equivalent liability (included in 

undistributed funds liability) relates 

to the income tax equivalent expense 

outstanding for the current period.

SA Lotteries is liable for payroll 

tax, fringe benefits tax, goods and 

services tax (GST), emergency services 

levy, land tax equivalent and local 

government rate equivalent.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

SA Lotteries, as a gambling operator,  

is required to pay GST of one eleventh  

of net gambling revenue (NGR), defined 

as gross sales less total monetary prizes, 

direct to the Australian Taxation Office 

(ATO ). The GST on NGR is treated as  

a cost of sales.

Income, expenses and assets 

are recognised net of the 

amount of GST except:

> when the GST incurred on a purchase 

of goods or services is not recoverable 

from the ATO, in which case the GST 

is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part  

of the expense item applicable; and

> receivables and payables, 

which are stated with the 

amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable 

from, or payable to, the ATO is included 

as part of receivables or payables in  

the Balance Sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash 

Flow Statement on a gross basis and 

the GST component of cash flows 

arising from investing and financing 

activities, which is recoverable from, 

or payable to, the ATO is classified 

as part of operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies 

are disclosed net of the amount of 

GST recoverable from, or payable 

to the ATO.  If GST is not payable to, 

or recoverable from the ATO, the 

commitments and contingencies 

are disclosed on a gross basis.

(e) Income and Expenses 

Income and expenses are recognised  

in SA Lotteries’ Income Statement to the 

extent that it is probable that the flow of 

economic benefits to or from the entity 

will occur and can be reliably measured.

Income and expenses have been 

classified according to their nature 

and have not been offset unless 

required or permitted by a specific 

accounting standard, or where 

offsetting reflects the substance of 

the transaction or other event.

Note 29 discloses income, expenses, 

financial assets and financial liabilities 

where the counterparty/transaction is 

with an entity within the SA Government 

as at the reporting date, classified 

according to their nature.

The following are specific 

recognition criteria:

Revenues

Revenues are measured at fair 

value of consideration received or 

receivable.  Revenue is recognised 

for major activities as follows:

> Sales revenue for Saturday Lotto, 

Monday/Wednesday Lotto, Oz Lotto, 

Powerball, Keno, Super 66, The Pools 

and Lucky SA Lottery is recognised as 

at the date of the draw or competition.  

For these games, sales revenue as at 

30 June for draws or competitions 

subsequent to that date is treated as 

sales in advance.  Sales revenue for 

Instant Scratchies is recognised daily.

> Interest revenue is recognised as 

it accrues, taking into account the 

effective yield on the financial asset.

> Revenues from services, fees and 

charges are derived from the 

provision of goods and services 

to the public.  This revenue is 

recognised upon delivery of the 

goods or services to the recipients.

Expenses

All borrowing costs are recognised  

as an expense.

The net loss on disposal of non-

current assets is recognised when 

control of the asset has passed to 

the buyer and is determined by 

comparing proceeds with carrying 

amount.  When revalued assets are 

sold, the revaluation increments are 

transferred to retained earnings.

(f) Current and Non-Current Classification

Assets and liabilities are characterised 

as either current or non-current in 

nature.  SA Lotteries has a clearly 

identifiable operating cycle of twelve 

months.  Assets and liabilities that are 

sold, consumed or realised as part of the 

normal operating cycle, even when they 

are not expected to be realised within 

twelve months after the reporting date, 

have been classified as current assets 
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or current liabilities. All other assets and 

liabilities are classified as non-current.

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the 

Balance Sheet and Cash Flow 

Statement includes cash on hand, 

deposits held at call and other short-

term, highly liquid investments that 

are used in the cash management 

function on a day-to-day basis.

Short term deposits are held with the 

South Australian Government Financing 

Authority (SAFA) in At Call Deposit and 

Cash Management Fund accounts.  

Interest is earned at a minimum of 

SAFA’s overnight at call deposit rate.  

The deposits principally reflect funds 

available for unclaimed prizes and 

for distribution to the Hospitals Fund 

and the Recreation and Sport Fund.

Cash is measured at nominal value.

(h) Receivables

Receivables include amounts receivable 

from agents and other parties, prizes 

receivable from Blocs, and prepayments.  

Receivables (other than prepayments) 

arise in the normal course of selling 

goods and services to agents and other 

parties and through prize settlement 

arrangements with other Bloc members.

Debtor Agents and Sundry Receivables

Debtor agents and sundry receivables 

are generally receivable within 

seven days and 14 days respectively 

and are carried at amounts due.

Collectibility of debtor agents and 

sundry receivables is reviewed on an 

ongoing basis.  Debts that are known 

to be uncollectible are written off 

when identified.  An allowance for 

doubtful debts is raised when there is 

objective evidence that SA Lotteries 

will not be able to collect the debt.

Prizes Receivable from Blocs

Saturday Lotto, Monday/Wednesday 

Lotto, Oz Lotto, Powerball, Super 66 

and The Pools are games supported 

by inter-jurisdictional prize pooling 

arrangements.  State lottery operators 

participating in individual games form 

Blocs for the relevant games. Amounts 

receivable from Blocs represent 

monies due from other jurisdictions 

for prizes won in South Australia.  

Settlement of amounts receivable 

from Bloc members are normally due 

14 days after the date of the draw.

(i) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower  

of actual cost or their net realisable value.

Inventories are held for distribution and 

include Instant Scratchies tickets, online 

coupons, ticket rolls, and ribbons.

(j) Non-Current Asset Acquisition 

and Recognition

Assets are initially recorded at 

cost, plus any incidental cost 

involved with the acquisition.

All non-current assets with a value 

of $2 000 or more are capitalised.

Componentisation of the online 

lotteries system (a complex asset) 

has been performed as the asset’s 

fair value at the time of acquisition 

was greater than $1 million.

(k) Revaluation of Non-Current Assets

All non-current tangible assets 

are valued at fair value.

Revaluation of non-current assets  

or group of assets is only performed 

when its fair value is greater than 

$1 million and estimated useful 

life is greater than three years.

SA Lotteries revalues such assets 

every three years. However, if at any 

time management considers that the 

carrying amount of an asset materially 

differs from its fair value then the 

asset will be revalued regardless of 

when the last valuation took place.  

Non-current tangible assets that are 

acquired between revaluations are 

held at cost until the next valuation, 

where they are revalued to fair value.

SA Lotteries has taken the exemption 

available under Accounting Policy 

Framework III Asset Accounting 

Framework paragraph APS 3.10 to take 

asset revaluation adjustments to the 

asset revaluation reserve on a class basis 

rather than an individual asset basis.

(l) Impairment

All non-current tangible assets are 

tested for indication of impairment 

at each reporting date. Where there 

is an indication of impairment, the 

recoverable amount is estimated. 

An amount by which the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeds the 

recoverable amount is recorded 

as an impairment loss.

For revalued assets, an impairment 

loss is offset against the asset 

revaluation reserve.

(m) Depreciation and Amortisation 

of Non-Current Assets 

All non-current assets, having a 

limited useful life, are systematically 

depreciated/amortised over their 

useful lives in a manner that reflects the 

consumption of their service potential.  

Amortisation is used in relation to 
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leasehold improvements and intangible 

assets (software), while depreciation 

is applied to tangible, physical assets 

such as property, plant and equipment.

Assets are not depreciated/amortised 

until they are commissioned for use.

Assets’ residual values, useful lives 

and depreciation/amortisation 

methods are reviewed and adjusted, 

if appropriate, on an annual basis.

The value of leasehold improvements 

is amortised over the estimated 

useful life of each improvement, or 

the unexpired period of the relevant 

lease, whichever is shorter.

Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation/amortisation is 

calculated on a straight line basis 

over the estimated useful life of the 

following classes of assets as follows:

Class of Assets

Estimated 

Useful Life

Buildings 20 years

Plant and Equipment 3 - 10 years

Online Lotteries System 2¼ - 4¼ years

Leasehold Improvements 10 years

Intangibles (software) 3 years

(n) Intangible Assets

An intangible asset is an identifiable 

non-monetary asset without 

physical substance.  Intangible assets 

are measured at cost.  Following 

initial recognition, intangible 

assets are carried at cost less any 

accumulated amortisation and any 

accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets 

are assessed to be either finite or 

indefinite.  SA Lotteries only has 

intangible assets with finite lives.

(o) Payables

Payables include creditors, accrued 

expenses, prizes payable, undistributed 

funds (owing to SA Government), 

and employment on-costs.

Creditors and Accrued Expenses

Creditors represent the amounts owing 

for goods and services received prior 

to the end of the reporting period that 

are unpaid at the end of the reporting 

period.  Creditors include all unpaid 

invoices received relating to the 

normal operations of SA Lotteries.

Accrued expenses represent goods 

and services provided by other parties 

during the period that are unpaid at the 

end of the reporting period and where 

an invoice has not been received.

All payables are measured at 

their nominal amount and are 

normally settled within 30 days 

from the date of the invoice or 

date the invoice is first received.

Prizes Payable

Prizes payable represent amounts 

due to be paid to customers for 

prizes won in South Australia and 

to lottery operators in other States 

participating in inter-jurisdictional 

prize pooling arrangements.  State 

lottery operators have formed Blocs to 

conduct the games of Saturday Lotto, 

Monday/Wednesday Lotto, Oz Lotto, 

Powerball, Super 66 and The Pools.

Amounts payable for prizes won in 

South Australia are generally available 

for settlement the day following the 

draw, or in the case of Instant Scratchies 

and minor Keno prizes, on the date of 

the sale or draw.  Division 1 and 2 prizes 

for Lotto type games are normally 

settled 14 days after the date of the 

draw in accordance with the Lotteries 

Rules.  Amounts payable to Blocs 

represent monies due to other lottery 

operators for prizes won in interstate 

jurisdictions. Settlement of amounts 

payable to Bloc members are normally 

due 14 days after the date of the draw.

Employment On-Costs

Employment on-costs include 

superannuation contributions, payroll 

tax, and workers compensation with 

respect to outstanding liabilities for 

salaries, long service leave and annual 

leave.  Employment on-costs are settled 

when the respective employee benefit 

that they relate to is discharged.

(p) Borrowings

Borrowings are brought to account 

at their principal amounts.  Interest is 

accrued over the period it becomes 

due and is recorded as part of 

creditors and accrued expenses. 

No borrowing costs have been 

capitalised in the financial period.

The carrying amount for borrowings 

approximates fair value.

(q) Employee Benefits

These benefits accrue for employees 

as a result of services provided up 

to the reporting date and remain 

unpaid.  Long term employee benefits 

are measured at present value and 

short term employee benefits are 

measured at nominal amounts.
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Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

The liability for salaries is measured 

as the amount unpaid at the 

reporting date at remuneration rates 

current at the reporting date.

The annual leave liability is expected to 

be payable within twelve months and is 

measured at the undiscounted amount 

expected to be paid. No salaries or annual 

leave are expected to be payable later 

than twelve months.

No provision has been made for 

sick leave as all sick leave is non-

vesting and the average sick leave 

taken in future years by employees 

is estimated to be less than the 

annual entitlement of sick leave.

Long Service Leave

The liability for long service leave  

is recognised after an employee  

has completed 6½ years of service.  

The benchmark for measurement of  

the long service leave liability has been 

revised from 7 to 6½ years based on an 

actuarial assessment performed by the 

Department of Treasury and Finance.

An actuarial assessment of Long 

Service Leave undertaken by the 

Department of Treasury and Finance 

based on a significant sample of 

employees throughout the South 

Australian public sector determined 

that the liability measured using the 

short hand method was not materially 

different from the liability measured 

using the present value of expected 

future payments.  This calculation is 

consistent with SA Lotteries’ experience 

of employee retention and leave taken.

The portion of the long service leave 

provision classified as current represents 

the amount that may be expected 

to be paid as leave taken or paid on 

termination of employment during 

SA Lotteries’ normal operating cycle.

(r) Unclaimed Prizes Reserve

Other than a prize in a Special Appeal 

Lottery (note 2(t)), any prize in a lottery 

that has not been collected or taken 

delivery of within 12 months of the date 

of the draw or relevant day is forfeited 

to SA Lotteries and transferred to the 

Unclaimed Prizes Reserve.  Subsection 

16C(4) of the State Lotteries Act 

1966 requires SA Lotteries to pay:

> 50% of the amount derived 

from unclaimed prizes in The 

Pools (and other sports lotteries 

or special lotteries) to the 

Recreation and Sport Fund; and 

> 50% of the amount derived 

from unclaimed prizes in other 

lotteries to the Hospitals Fund.  

The balance in the Reserve is applied 

by SA Lotteries from time to time for 

the purposes of providing additional 

or increased prizes in a subsequent 

lottery or lotteries, providing 

prizes in promotional lotteries or 

making ex-gratia payments.

The State Lotteries Act 1966 provides 

for an ex-gratia payment to a person 

who satisfies SA Lotteries that they are a 

winner of a prize in a lottery conducted 

by SA Lotteries, despite the fact that a 

prize has been forfeited to SA Lotteries, 

the winning ticket has been lost or 

destroyed or a notice of a claim for the 

prize has not been complied with in 

accordance with the Lotteries Rules.

Ex-gratia payments are charged to the 

Unclaimed Prizes Reserve.  Subsequent 

payments to either the Hospitals Fund 

or Recreation and Sport Fund are 

reduced by an amount equivalent to 

50 percent of the ex-gratia payment, 

depending on the game played.

(s) Distribution of Funds to Government

In accordance with Subsection 

16(3) of the State Lotteries Act 1966, 

SA Lotteries is required to pay to 

the Hospitals Fund the balance of 

surplus funds remaining after:

> payment of gambling tax 

and GST on NGR;

> making allowances for operating 

and capital expenses;

> applying the net proceeds and 

gambling tax of The Pools to the 

Recreation and Sport Fund;

> in respect of Special Appeal 

Lotteries (note 2(t)), applying 

the net proceeds and unclaimed 

prizes less the GST on NGR to the 

beneficiary(s) of those lotteries; and

> retaining funds for certain 

designated purposes.

As detailed in note 2(d), SA Lotteries 

is required to make tax equivalent 

payments as a result of the application 

of the tax equivalent regime.  In 

recognition of the provisions of 

the State Lotteries Act 1966, and in 

accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 

22 Tax Equivalent Payments, the 

transfer of funds to the Hospitals 

Fund is reflected in the financial 

statements in the form of:

(i)  a gambling tax of 41% on NGR in 

respect of all lotteries conducted 

by SA Lotteries except sports 

lotteries and special lotteries;
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(ii)  an income tax equivalent 

payment (calculated on the 

accounting profits method), 

recorded as an expense item 

in the Income Statement;

(iii)  a dividend, represented by net 

profit after income tax equivalent 

payment and increased/decreased 

by funds retained for certain 

designated purposes; and

(iv)  unclaimed prizes.

The composition of all amounts due 

and payable to Government on account 

of the Hospitals Fund and Recreation 

and Sport Fund is detailed in note 27.

(t) Special Appeal Lotteries

With effect from 30 April 2007,  

the State Lotteries Act 1966 was 

amended to facilitate the conduct of 

Special Appeal Lotteries for approved 

state-based causes and disasters.  

The beneficiary(s), as approved by the 

Minister, receive the net proceeds less 

GST on NGR plus unclaimed prizes in 

respect of the Special Appeal Lotteries.

No Special Appeal Lotteries were 

conducted during the financial year.

(u) Foreign Currency

Exchange differences arising up to the 

date of purchase are included in the 

measurement of the purchase and are 

reported in the Income Statement.

(v) Operating Leases

SA Lotteries has an accommodation 

lease agreement for its Head 

Office premises at 24-25 Greenhill 

Road, Wayville and an operating 

lease agreement for a remote 

computer site at Kidman Park.

In respect of these operating leases, the 

lessor effectively retains substantially 

the entire risks and benefits incidental 

to ownership of the leased assets.  

Operating lease payments are 

recognised as an expense in the Income 

Statement on a straight line basis over 

the lease term. The straight line basis is 

representative of the pattern of benefits 

derived from the leased assets.

(w) Insurance

SA Lotteries has arranged, through 

the SAICORP Division of the South 

Australian Government Financing 

Authority, to insure all major risks of the 

organisation.  The excess payable under 

this arrangement varies depending 

on each class of insurance held.

(x) Superannuation

SA Lotteries has an established 

superannuation plan for its employees, 

being the Lotteries Commission of 

South Australia Superannuation Plan 

(the Plan), which is a sub-plan of the 

Mercer Super Trust.  The Plan provides 

lump sum benefits on retirement, death, 

disablement.  Some categories of 

members receive only defined 

contribution, accumulation style 

benefits.  The defined benefit section  

of the Plan is closed to new members.  

All new members receive accumulation 

only benefits.  The defined contribution 

(accumulation style) section receives 

fixed contributions from SA Lotteries 

and SA Lotteries’ obligation is limited  

to these contributions. The withdrawal 

benefit for defined benefit members 

may be taken immediately or deferred 

until preservation age.

The liability for the defined benefit 

section of the Plan has been 

determined via an actuarial valuation 

by Stuart Mules, FIAA (Mercer 

Investment Nominees Limited) using 

the projected unit credit method.  

The report was dated 13 July 2007.

Actuarial gains and losses are 

recognised in full, directly in profit 

and loss in the period in which 

they occur, and are presented 

in the Income Statement.

The superannuation expense of the 

defined benefit plan is recognised as 

and when the contributions become 

payable and consist of current service 

cost; interest cost; actuarial gains 

and losses; and past service cost.

The defined benefit superannuation 

plan asset recognised in the Balance 

Sheet represents the surplus of the  

fair value of the defined benefit 

superannuation plan assets over  

the present value of the defined  

benefit obligation to members.  

The expected payment to settle  

the obligation has been determined 

using national government bond 

market yields with terms and  

conditions that match, as closely as 

possible, to estimated cash outflows.

SA Lotteries also contributes to other 

externally managed superannuation 

plans.  These contributions are 

expensed when they fall due 

and SA Lotteries’ obligation is 

limited to these contributions.

(y) Funds Retained for Capital Purposes

SA Lotteries has retained funds which 

represent the historical cost of the 

investment in land and buildings at 

24-26 Payneham Road, Stepney.
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(z) Reserves

Asset Revaluation Reserve

This reserve was established to record 

increments and decrements in relation 

to the revaluation of land and buildings 

and the online lotteries system.

Building Maintenance Reserve

This reserve was established 

to meet future major building 

maintenance costs.

Capital Asset Reserve

This reserve was established to 

contribute to the financing of the cost 

of replacement of the online lotteries 

system hardware and software, and the 

purchase of other non-current assets. 

Keno Prize Reserve

This reserve was established to meet 

Keno Spot 10 prizes.  The reserve is 

funded from retained earnings at the 

rate of 23.32% of all Keno Spot 10 net 

sales (being gross sales less agents’ 

commission) through SA Lotteries’ 

agents and AC TTAB Limited.  To the 

extent possible, the value of the 

Keno Spot 10 prize won is returned 

to the Hospitals Fund as a Dividend.

3. Financial Risk Management

SA Lotteries is exposed to a 

variety of financial risks, market 

risk (foreign exchange and price), 

credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Risk management is carried out 

by all areas of the organisation 

and risk management policies and 

practices are in accordance with 

the Australian Risk Management 

Standards and internal written policies 

approved by the Commission.

SA Lotteries has non-interest bearing 

assets (cash on hand, receivables and 

inventories) and liabilities (payables and 

other liabilities) and interest bearing 

assets (bank balances and short-term 

deposits) and interest bearing liabilities 

(borrowings from the SA Government).  

SA Lotteries’ exposure to foreign 

exchange risk and cash flow interest 

risk is minimal.  SA Lotteries is exposed 

to price risk for changes in interest 

rates that relate to debt obligations 

and investments at fair value. 

SA Lotteries has no significant 

concentration of credit risk.  

SA Lotteries has policies and 

procedures in place to ensure that 

transactions occur with customers 

with appropriate credit history.

In relation to liquidity/funding risk,  

the continued existence of SA Lotteries 

in its present form, and with its present 

segment/service, is dependent on 

Government policy to maintain  

SA Lotteries’ asset base.

4. Changes in Accounting Policies

Except for the amendments to AASB 

101 Presentation of Financial Statements, 

which SA Lotteries has early adopted, 

the Australian accounting standards 

and interpretations that have recently 

been issued or amended, but are not 

yet effective, have not been adopted 

by SA Lotteries for the reporting period 

ending 30 June 2007.  SA Lotteries has 

assessed the impact of the new and 

amended standards and interpretations 

and considers there will be no impact 

on the accounting policies or the 

financial report of SA Lotteries.

5. Segment Reporting

SA Lotteries’ business operations are 

conducted in the one main business 

and geographical segment - selling 

lottery games within the economic 

environment of South Australia.

SA Lotteries has not established 

any partnership, body corporate 

or trust to carry out any function 

of its business operations.

6. Sales Revenue
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Saturday Lotto 135 042 132 388

Monday/
Wednesday Lotto

 
32 607

 
35 936

Oz Lotto 22 234 16 495

Powerball 42 034 46 519

Keno 78 523 76 581

Instant Scratchies 37 139 38 383

Super 66 1 149 1 228

The Pools 518 558

Total sales revenue 349 246 348 088

Sales revenue includes agents’ commission.

7. Cost of Sales
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Prizes 211 236 209 439

Gambling tax on net 
gambling revenue 56 584 56 846

Agents’ commission 25 779 25 755

GST on net 
gambling revenue

 
12 546

 
12 604

Total cost of sales 306 145 304 644

8. Other Revenues
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Agents’ fees 
and charges

 
3 604

 
3 459

Easiplay Club 
service fees

 
338

 
341

Sundry 462 446

Total other revenue 4 404 4 246
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9. Employee Benefits Expenses
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Salaries (including 
annual leave) 

 
5 529

 
5 316

Long service leave 167 131

Employment on-costs 
- superannuation 
contributions  
(note 28(j)) 553 601

Increase in asset 
for defined benefit 
superannuation plan  
(note 28(e)) (294) (717)

Employment 
on-costs - other

 
484

 
395

Commission 
Members’ fees

 
102

 
111

Total employee 
benefits expenses

 
6 541

 
5 837

Remuneration of employees

The table includes all employees  

who received remuneration of  

$100 000 or more during the year.  

Remuneration of employees reflects  

all costs of employment including 

salaries, superannuation contributions, 

fringe benefits tax and any other  

salary sacrifice benefits, and includes 

payment of leave entitlements on 

ceasing employment.

2007
No.

2006
No.

The number of employees whose 

remuneration received or receivable 

falls within the following bands:

$100 000 to $109 999 - 2

$120 000 to $129 999 2 -

$150 000 to $159 999 1 -

$160 000 to $169 999 - 1

$190 000 to $199 999 - 1

$270 000 to $279 999 - 1

$280 000 to $289 999 1 -

$290 000 to $299 999 1 -

Total number of employees 5 5

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Total remuneration 
received or receivable 
by employees whose 
remuneration was 
$100 000 or more 990 852

Commission Members

The following persons held the position 

of Member of the Lotteries Commission 

of South Australia for the full financial 

year unless otherwise stated:

Mr H J Ohff, FIEAust, CPEng, BA 

(Hons) (Presiding Member)

Ms S J Mackenzie, B Comm 

(Accounting), LLB (Hons)

Mr W R Jackson, BEc, FASA

Mr S K Shirley, BEc, FCA, CPA, FTIA 

- term expired 31 August 2006 

- reappointed 8 February 2007

Ms C M Crago, Ass Dip (Bus), BBus 

(Mktg) - term expired 31 August 2006

Ms A E Lindsay, BA (Hons), LLB 

(Hons) - appointed 22 March 2007

Commission Members’ remuneration

The total remuneration received and 

receivable by Commission Members 

includes fees, superannuation payments 

and professional indemnity insurance 

paid on behalf of Commission Members.

2007
No.

2006
No.

The number of Commission Members 

whose remuneration received or 

receivable falls within the following bands:

$0 to $9 999 2 1

$10 000 to $19 999 1 -

$20 000 to $29 999 2 4

$30 000 to $39 999 1 1

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

The total remuneration 
received or receivable 
by Commission 
Members 120 137

Other Key Management Personnel 

Transactions

The aggregate amounts recognised 

during the year relating to key 

management personnel were as follows:

Commission Member:  
Mr S K Shirley 
Transaction: 
Consulting fees 9 -

SA Lotteries used the consulting services 

of Mr S K Shirley in relation to independent 

accounting and commercial advice to the 

Commission and such other advice in 

accordance with his qualifications during 

the period after the expiration of his 

term as a Commission Member to his 

reappointment. Amounts were billed 

based on normal market rates for such 

services and were due and payable under 

normal payment terms. No amounts 

were outstanding at year end.

Related Party Disclosure

All amounts provided by SA Lotteries 

to related parties are provided on an 

arm’s length terms.

No Commission Member has entered 

into a material contract with SA Lotteries 

since the end of the previous financial 

year and there were no material 

contracts involving Commission 

Members’ interests subsisting at 

the end of the financial year.

Key Management Personnel Compensation

The key management personnel are 

the Commission Members and the 
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Senior Management Team (including 

the Chief Executive) who have 

responsibility for the strategic direction 

and management of SA Lotteries.

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

The key management personnel 

compensation is as follows:

Short-term employee 
benefits

 
951

 
831

Post-employment 
benefits*

 
85

 
(35)

Other long-term 
benefits

 
16

 
16

Total key management 
personnel compensation 1 052 812

*Post-employment benefits include an 
allocation of the change in the defined benefit 
superannuation plan asset to key management 
personnel based on the share of the defined 
benefit obligation.

Targeted Voluntary Separation 

Packages (TVSP)

No employees were paid TVSPs 

during the reporting period.

10. Supplies and Services

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Advertising and 
marketing

 
5 875

 
6 417

Computer operations 3 190 3 221

Tickets, coupons, 
terminal rolls and ribbons 1 467 1 598

Operating leases 609 570

Other occupancy costs 562 520

Agent distribution costs 225 219

Insurance 145 152

External audit fees 
(note 12)

 
121

 
177

Training costs 82 88

Gambling tax - other 32 42

Net loss on disposal of  
non-current assets 
(note 13) - 2

Bad debts 6 -

Other 1 451 1 264

Total supplies and services 13 765 14 270

 

Consultancies 

The number and dollar amount of 

consultancies paid/payable (included 

in Supplies and Services) that fell 

within the following bands:

2007
No.

2006
No.

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Below 
$10 000 2 6 11 18

$10 000 to 
$50 000

 
2

 
-

 
25

 
-

Total paid/
payable to 
consultants 
engaged 4 6 36 18

11. Depreciation and 
Amortisation Expense

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Depreciation

Buildings 24 24

Plant and equipment 305 297

Online lotteries system 2 624 2 382

Total depreciation 2 953 2 703

Amortisation

Leasehold improvements 229 226

Software 19 -

Total amortisation 248 226

Total depreciation 
and amortisation 3 201 2 929

Revision in Accounting Estimates 

During the year, SA Lotteries reassessed 

the useful lives of the Online Lotteries 

System assets, resulting in a reduction 

in the estimated useful life.  This has 

resulted in an increase of $121 000 in 

the amount of depreciation calculated 

on these assets in the 2006-07 financial 

year relative to the amount that would 

have been expensed based on the 

previous estimate of the useful life.  

The higher depreciation expense will 

also be reflected in future years.
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12. Auditor’s Remuneration

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Audit Services

Audit fees payable for 
the financial year

 
141

 
153

(Over) under accrual (20) 24

External audit fees expense 121 177

The Auditor-General’s Department 

is the auditor of SA Lotteries.

Other Services

No other services were provided by 

the Auditor-General’s Department. 

13. Net Loss on Disposal 
of Non-current Assets

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Proceeds from disposal 5 -

Less: Net book value 
of assets disposed 5 2

Net loss from disposal 
of non-current assets - (2)

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Bank balances and 
cash on hand (377) (493)

Short-term deposits 49 357 52 206

Total cash and 
cash equivalents

 
48 980

 
51 713

Bank balances comprise unpresented 

cheques net of outstanding 

deposits and cash on hand.

Short-term deposits are with the 

South Australian Government 

Financing Authority (SAFA).

Interest Rate Risk

Cash on hand is non-interest 

bearing.  Bank balances and short-

term deposits earn a floating interest 

rate based on daily, floating rates.  

The weighted average interest rate 

earned was 6.21% (2006: 5.61%).

Net Fair Values

The carrying amount of cash and cash 

equivalents represents fair value.

15. Receivables
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Debtor agents 1 565 535

Prizes receivable 
from Blocs

 
26 389

 
272

Sundry receivables 405 358

GST receivable 454 414

Prepayments 212 86

Total receivables 29 025 1 665

Interest Rate Risk

All receivables are non-interest bearing.

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the loss that  

would be recognised if parties holding 

financial assets of SA Lotteries at balance 

date fail to honour their obligations 

under contract.  SA Lotteries minimises 

its credit risk on debtor agents by 

undertaking its sales transactions with  

a large number of agents and requiring 

those agents to remit outstandings on  

a twice weekly basis.  It is not anticipated 

that counterparties will fail to discharge 

their obligations.  In addition, there is  

no concentration of credit risk.  

Net Fair Values

The carrying amount of Receivables 

approximates net fair value due to 

being receivable on demand.

16. Property, Plant and 
Equipment

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Land and buildings

Land at fair value 700 560

Buildings at fair value 650 480

Accumulated 
depreciation

 
-

 
48

Total land and buildings 1 350 992

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment 
at cost (deemed  
fair value) 2 388 2 236

Accumulated 
depreciation (1 828) (1 626)

Total plant and 
equipment

 
560

 
610

Online lotteries systems

Online lotteries 
system at cost 
(deemed fair value) 2 351 829

Accumulated 
depreciation

 
(357)

 
(93)

Online lotteries 
system at fair value

 
10 168

 
10 168

Accumulated 
depreciation

 
(4 647)

 
(2 289)

Total online 
lotteries system

 
7 515

 
8 615

Leasehold improvements

Leasehold 
improvements at cost 
(deemed fair value) 2 438 2 293

Accumulated 
amortisation

 
(542)

 
(313)

Total leasehold 
improvements

 
1 896

 
1 980

Total property plant 
and equipment 11 321 12 197
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Valuation of property, plant and equipment

> The valuation of the 24-26 Payneham 

Road, Stepney property was performed 

by Simon Hickin AAPI, Certified 

Practicing Valuer, an independent 

valuer from Jones Lang LaSalle,  

as at 30 June 2007. The valuer arrived 

at fair value based on recent market 

transactions for similar land and 

buildings in the area taking into 

account zoning and restricted  

use and was determined on an  

in-use value, assuming a fully  

tenanted (subject to a notional  

five plus five year lease back) basis.

> The valuation of the online lotteries 

system was performed by Andrew 

Lucas, MBA, BappSc (Val), AAPI, 

ASA, Certified Practicing Valuer, an 

independent valuer from Valcorp 

Australia Pty Ltd, as at 30 June 

2005.  The valuer arrived at fair 

value based on market value of 

items in this group of assets.

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

The carrying amount 

of property, plant and 

equipment that would 

have been recognised 

if these assets were 

stated at cost is:

Land and buildings 379 397

Plant and equipment 560 610

Online lotteries system 3 670 2 422

Leasehold 
improvements

 
1 896

 
1 980

Total carrying amount 
of property, plant and 
equipment that would 
have been recognised 
if these assets were 
stated at cost 6 505 5 409

Carrying amount of Property, 

Plant and Equipment

The gross carrying value of property, 

plant and equipment includes 

$941 000 (2006: $883 000) of fully 

depreciated assets still in use.

Impairment

There were no indications of 

impairment of property, plant and 

equipment assets at 30 June 2007.

Land
$’000

Buildings
$’000

Plant & 
equipment

$’000

Online lotteries 
system
$’000

Leasehold 
improvements

$’000
Total 
$’000

Carrying amount at 1 July 2006 560 432 610 8 615 1 980 12 197

Additions - - 260 1 524 145 1 929

Disposals - - (5) - - (5)

Revaluation increment 140 242 - - - 382

Depreciation and amortisation - (24) (305) (2 624) (229) (3 182)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2007 700 650 560 7 515 1 896 11 321

Carrying amount at 1 July 2005 560 456 754 10 287 2 201 14 258

Additions - - 155 710 5 870

Disposals - - (2) - - (2)

Depreciation and amortisation - (24) (297) (2 382) (226) (2 929)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2006 560 432 610 8 615 1 980 12 197

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment

The following table shows the movement of Property, Plant and Equipment during 2006-07 and 2005-06.
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17. Intangible Assets
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Software

Software at cost 162 129

Accumulated 
amortisation

 
(19)

 
-

Total intangible assets 143 129

Reconciliation of Intangible Assets
The following table shows the 
movement of Intangible Assets 
during 2006-07 and 2005-06.

Carrying amount at 1 July 129 -

Additions 33 129

Amortisation (19) -

Carrying amount at 30 June 143 129

 
18. Other Non-Current Assets

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Defined benefit 
superannuation plan 
asset (note 28(d)) 1 082 788

Total other non-current assets 1 082 788

19. Payables
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

Current

Creditors and 
accrued expenses

 
2 470

 
1 748

Prizes payable 38 227 10 238

GST payable 1 142 1 206

Undistributed funds 7 196 8 739

Employment on-costs 116 79

Total current payables 49 151 22 010

Non-current

Employment on-costs 28 47

Total non-current 
payables

 
28

 
47

Total payables 49 179 22 057

Interest Rate Risk

All payables are non-interest bearing.

Net Fair Values

The carrying amount of payables 

approximates net fair values due to the 

amounts being payable on demand.

20. Borrowings

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Current borrowings 554 1 738

Non-current borrowings 6 512

Total borrowings 560 2 250

SA Lotteries has six loans from the 

Department of Treasury and Finance, 

with fixed interest rates ranging from 

5.59% to 7.21% together with a 0.65% 

guarantee fee.  The weighted average 

interest incurred was 6.24% (2006: 6.99%). 

Loans are recognised at cost. Loans are 

unsecured and repayable over eight 

years with six monthly repayments 

on a credit foncier loan basis.

21. Employee Benefits

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Current

Annual leave 337 325

Short-term long 
service leave

 
156

 
200

Accrued salaries 238 102

Total current 
employee benefits 731 627

Non-current

Long-term long 
service leave

 
669

 
616

Total non-current 
employee benefits 669 616

Total employee benefits 1 400 1 243

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

The total current and 
non-current employee 
expenses (ie aggregate 
employee benefit 
(previous) plus related 
employment on-costs  
(note 19)) is: 1 544 1 369

22. Other Liabilities

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Current

Prize reserve fund (a) 6 813 8 010

Unearned revenue 
- sales in advance

 
1 342

 
2 264

Total current 
other liabilities

 
8 155

 
10 274

Non-current

Unclaimed prizes 
reserve (b)

 
5 829

 
5 016

Total non-current 
other liabilities

 
5 829

 
5 016

Total other liabilities 13 984 15 290

(a) Prize reserve fund

Balance at 1 July 8 010 7 250

Allocated to prize 
reserve fund

 
9 832

 
11 150

Applied to additional 
or increased prizes 
or missed prizes

 
 

(11 029)

 
 

(10 390)

Balance at 30 June 6 813 8 010

The prize reserve fund allocation 

comprises the following percentages 

of net sales (gross sales revenue 

less agents’ commission) for 

the following games:

> 5.0% for Lotto;

> 3.5% for Oz Lotto and Super 66;

>  3.5% for Powerball (was 2.5% 

up to 9 November 2006);

> 2.0% for The Pools.
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These funds are available for 

distribution at any time as additional 

or increased prizes in subsequent 

lottery draws in the respective games 

or as prizes in respect of missed prize 

entries for previous lottery draws. 

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

(b) Unclaimed Prizes Reserve

Balance at 1 July 5 016 5 421

Unclaimed monies 
forfeited

 
3 810

 
2 548

8 826 8 005

Monies provided 
for distribution to 
the Hospitals Fund (1 904) (1 290)

Monies provided 
for distribution 
to the Recreation 
and Sport Fund (1) (1)

Applied to additional 
or increased prizes in 
subsequent lottery 
draws, tickets and 
prizes in promotional 
lotteries or ex-gratia 
payments (1 092) (1 698)

Balance at 30 June 5 829 5 016

23. Capital Asset Reserve

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Capital asset reserve comprises:

Capital fund account 10 466 10 428

Capital fund assets 6 256 5 835

Total 16 722 16 263

Capital fund account

Balance at 1 July 10 248 9 427

Transfer from 
retained earnings

 
2 000

 
2 000

Assets financed (1 962) (999)

Balance at 30 June 10 466 10 428

Capital fund assets

Written down 
value at 1 July

 
5 835

 
6 136

Assets finaced 1 962 999

Depreciation (1 536) (1 298)

Written down value 
of assets disposed of

 
(5)

 
(2)

Written down value 
at 30 June

 
6 256

 
5 835

24. Commitments for 
Expenditure

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Operating lease commitments

Commitments in relation to 
operating leases contracted for at the 
reporting date but not recognised 
as liabilities are payable as follows:

Within one year 689 666

Later than one 
year but no longer 
than five years

 
 

2 429

 
 

2 483

Later than five years 1 212 1 846

Total operating lease 
commitments 4 330 4 995

Representing:

Non-cancellable 
operating leases 4 330 4 995

The 10 year accommodation operating 

lease at 24-25 Greenhill Road (head 

office) is non-cancellable with 

rent payable monthly in advance.  

Contingent rental provisions within 

the lease agreement require lease 

payments to be increased by 3% per 

annum with a rent review after 5 years. 

The option for renewal of a further 

term of 5 years is available prior to 

the expiration of the current term.

The operating lease for the remote 

computer site at Kidman Park is 

non-cancellable with rental payable 

monthly in advance.  Contingent rental 

provisions within the lease agreement 

require the minimum lease payments 

to be increased by 5% per annum.

.

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Other Commitments

Other expenditure contracted 
for at the reporting date but not 
recognised as liabilities in the financial 
report, are payable as follows:

Within one year 1 238 1 521

Later than one 
year but no longer 
than five years 2 604 309

Total other commitments 3 842 1 830

SA Lotteries’ other commitments 

are for agreements relating to 

online lotteries system software, 

hardware and associated services 

and other fixed services.
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25. Contingent Assets 
and Liabilities

SA Lotteries is not aware of any 

contingent assets or liabilities.

SA Lotteries has made no guarantees.

26. Cash Flow Reconciliation

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Reconciliation of cash  
and cash equivalents

Balance sheet 48 980 51 713

Cash flow statement 48 980 51 713

Reconciliation of Profit before 
income tax equivalent to Net Cash 
provided by Operating Activities:

Profit before income 
tax equivalent 26 986 27 234

Add: Gambling tax 56 616 56 888

Add (less): Non-cash items

Depreciation and 
amortisation expense 3 201 2 929

Net loss on disposal 
of non-current assets - 2

Increase in defined 
benefit superannuation 
plan asset (294) (717)

Changes in assets/liabilities

(Increase) Decrease 
in Receivables (27 360) 860

(Increase) Decrease 
in Inventories (20) 20

Increase (Decrease) 
in Payables 28 285 941

Increase (Decrease) in 
Employee benefits 157 (57)

Increase (Decrease) 
in other liabilities 599 2 274

Net cash provided by 
operating activities 88 170 90 374

Balance 
1 July
$’000

       Distribution Balance
30 June

$’000
Provided

$’000
(Paid)
$’000

Gambling tax (notes 7 &10) 5 374 56 616 (56 998) 4 992

Income tax equivalent 996 8 096 (8 416) 676

Dividend 2 173 19 476 (20 258) 1 391

Unclaimed Prizes 196 1 905 (1 964) 137

Totals 2006-07 8 739 86 093 (87 636) 7 196

Totals 2005-06 7 833 85 305 (84 399) 8 739

Comprising:

Distribution to Hospitals Fund

Gambling tax 5 311 56 552 (56 883) 4 980

Income tax equivalent 996 8 096 (8 416) 676

Dividend 2 153 19 411 (20 182) 1 382

Unclaimed prizes 196 1 904 (1 963) 137

Totals 8 656 85 963 (87 444) 7 175

Distribution to Recreation and Sport Fund

Gambling tax 63 64 (115) 12

Dividend 20 65 (76) 9

Unclaimed Prizes - 1 (1) -

Totals 83 130 (192) 21

27. Distribution of Funds to SA Government
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28. Superannuation 
2007

$’000
2006

$’000

(a) Expense (Income) Recognised 
in the Income Statement

Amounts recognised as expense 
(income) in respect of the defined 
benefit superannuation plan as follows:

Current service cost 287 373

Interest cost 297 303

Expected return 
or plan assets (416) (433)

Actuarial loss (gain) (122) (625)

Superannuation 
expense (income) 46 (382)

The expense (income) is 
recognised in the following  
item in the Income Statement:

> Employee benefits 
expenses

 
46

 
(382)

(b) Reconciliation of the Present Value 
of the Defined Benefit Obligation

Present value of defined 
benefit obligation  
at beginning of 
financial year 5 852 6 994

Current service cost 287 373

Interest cost 297 303

Contributions from 
plan participants 199 202

Actuarial losses (gains) 533 (59)

Benefits paid (769) (1 858)

Taxes, premiums 
and expenses paid (99) (106)

Transfers in 23 3

Present value of defined 
benefit obligation at 
end of financial year 6 323 5 852

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

(c) Reconciliation of the Fair value 
of Defined Benefit Plan Assets

Fair value of plan 
assets at beginning 
of financial year 6 640 7 065

Expected return 
or plan assets 416 433

Actuarial gains (losses) 655 566

Employer 
contributions

 
340

 
335

Contributions by 
plan participants 199 202

Benefits paid (769) (1 858)

Taxes, premiums 
and expenses paid (99) (106)

Transfers in 23 3

Fair value of plan assets 
at end of financial year 7 405 6 640

The fair value of Plan assets includes no 
investments over which SA Lotteries 
retains ownership control relating to :

> any of SA Lotteries’ own financial 
instruments; or

> any property occupied by, or other 
assets used by, SA Lotteries.

(d) Reconciliation of the Asset 
Recognised in the Balance Sheet

Defined benefit 
obligation 6 323 5 852

Fair value of plan assets 7 405 6 640

Surplus 1 082 788

Net superannuation asset 1 082 788

The amount included in the Balance
Sheet arising from SA Lotteries’ net 
superannuation asset in respect of its 
defined benefit plan is as follows:

Note 18:  Other Non-Current Assets

> Defined benefit 
superannuation 
plan asset 1 082 788

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

(e) Movement in Asset Recognised 
in the Balance Sheet

Net superannuation 
asset at beginning 
of financial year 788 71

Income (expense) 
recognised in 
Income Statement (46) 382

Employer 
contributions

 
340

 
335

Net movement 294 717

Net superannuation 
asset at end of 
financial year 1 082 788

(f) Plan Assets

The percentage invested in each asset 

class at the balance sheet date:

Percentage 
Invested

Plan Assets

2007 2006 2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Australian 
equity 35% 34% 2 592 2 258

Overseas 
equity

 
29%

 
28%

 
2 147

 
1 859

Fixed income 14% 15% 1 037 996

Property 8% 8% 592 531

Cash 14% 15% 1 037 996

Total plan 
assets

 
100%

 
100%

 
7 405

 
6 640

(Asset allocation as at 30 June 2007 

was not available.  The asset allocation 

at 31 May 2007 has been used as 

an approximation of the allocation 

as at the balance sheet date.)
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(g) Expected Rate of Return on Plan Assets

The expected return on assets 

assumption is determined by weighting 

the expected long-term return for each 

asset class by the target allocation of 

assets in each class and allowing for the 

correlations of the investment returns 

between asset classes. The returns used 

for each asset class are net of investment 

tax, investment fees, and asset-based 

administration fees.

Expected rate 
of return

2007 2006

The expected rate of return for 
each asset class at the end of the 
financial year is as follows:

Australian equity 7.7% 7.5%

Overseas equity 7.2% 7.0%

Fixed income 4.4% 4.3%

Property 6.5% 6.3%

Cash 3.9% 3.8%

Weighted average 
expected return 6.5% 6.3%

(h) Actual Return on Plan Assets

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

Actual return on 
plan assets

 
1 071

 
999

(i) Principal Actuarial Assumptions

The principal actuarial assumptions 

at the balance sheet date (expressed 

as weighted averages):

2007 2006

Discount rate 
(active members)

 
5.3%pa

 
4.9%pa

Expected rate of 
return on plan assets 
(active members)

 
 

6.5%pa

 
 

6.3%pa

Expected salary 
increase rate

 
3.5%pa

 
3.5%pa

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

(j) Contributions

Contributions paid/payable 
by SA Lotteries to 
superannuation plans:

Defined benefit 
members

 
340

 
335

Defined contribution 
(accumulation) members 209 251

Private funds 4 15

Total contributions 553 601

(k) Expected Employer Contributions

The estimated employer 
contributions expected 
to be paid to the plan 
during the year 
beginning after the 
balance sheet date 88 324

The estimated employer contributions 

are based on a contribution rate of 

4% of defined benefit members’ 

salaries (see note 28(m)(ii)).

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

(l) Historical Information

Present value of 
defined benefit 
obligation

 
 

6 323

 
 

5 852

 
 

6 994

Fair value of 
plan assets

 
7 405

 
6 640

 
7 065

Surplus (deficit) 
in plan

 
1 082

 
788

 
71

Experience 
adjustments 
gain (loss) - plan 
liabilities

 
 
 

(561)

 
 
 

(170)

 
 
 

20

Experience 
adjustments gain 
(loss) - plan assets

 
 

655

 
 

566

 
 

434

(m) Funding Arrangements for 

Employer Contributions

(i) Surplus/Deficit

The following is a summary of the 

most recent financial position of 

the Lotteries Commission of South 

Australia Superannuation Plan 

calculated in accordance with AAS25 

Financial Reporting by Superannuation 

Plans as at 30 June 2006.

Defined benefit members 

Accrued benefits 6 055

Net market value of plan assets 6 658

Net surplus (deficit) 603

Accumulation members:

Assets and benefits 1 529

(The Plan is subject to a triennial review 

and is externally managed.  The last full 

actuarial investigation was conducted 

as at 30 June 2006 by Stuart Mules, FIAA, 

of Mercer Human Resource Consulting.  

The report was dated 18 June 2007.)

(ii) Contribution Recommendations

The current contribution 

recommendations, as set out in 

the report of the most recent 

actuarial valuation of the Plan 

as at 30 June 2006, are:

> from 1 July 2007, either 4% of 

defined benefit members’ salaries 

or a contribution holiday for three 

years with contributions at 11% 

of defined benefit members’ 

salaries from 1 July 2010;

> at the Superannuation Guarantee 

rate for accumulation members.
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(iii) Funding Method

The method used to determine 

the employer contribution 

recommendations at the last actuarial 

review was the “target” funding 

method. The method adopted affects 

the timing of the cost to SA Lotteries.

Under the “target” funding method, 

the employer contribution rate is 

determined with the aim of maintaining 

the assets at or close to the value of 

Accrued Benefits and above the total 

of the Vested Benefits (leaving service 

benefits) by a margin sufficient to give 

security against adverse circumstances.

(iv) Economic Assumptions

The long-term economic assumptions 

adopted for the last actuarial review 

of the Plan as at 30 June 2006 were:

 Weighted average 
 assumptions 

>  Expected rate of 13.3% in the 
return on assests 2006-07 year 
(discount rate) 6.5% pa thereafter

>  Expected salary  
increase rate 3.5% pa

(n) Nature of Asset/Liability

SA Lotteries has recognised an asset 

in the Balance Sheet in respect of 

its defined benefit superannuation 

arrangements. If a surplus exists 

in the Plan, SA Lotteries may be 

able to take advantage of it in the 

form of a reduction in the required 

contribution rate, depending on 

the advice of the Plan’s actuary.

SA Lotteries (the employer) may at 

any time by notice to the Trustee 

terminate its contributions.  In this case 

the employer has a liability to pay the 

monthly contributions due prior to the 

effective date of the notice, but subject 

to any statutory obligations, there is no 

requirement for the employer to pay 

any further contributions, irrespective 

of the financial condition of the Plan.

The Plan does not impose a legal 

liability on SA Lotteries to cover any 

deficit that exists in the Plan if it is 

wound up. The Master Deed of the 

Mercer Super Trust and the Participation 

Agreement of the Plan state that if 

the Plan winds up, the remaining 

assets must be paid to Members, 

Dependants, former Members, 

deceased Members’ Dependants 

or legal personal representative 

in proportions the Trustee in its 

discretion determines is appropriate.
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29. Transactions with SA Government

As required by APS 4.1 of Accounting Polic y Framework II General Purpose Financial Reporting Framework,  

the following table discloses revenues, expenses, financial assets and liabilities where the counterparty/transaction 

is with an entity within the SA Government as at the reporting date, classified according to their nature.

Note

             SA Government         Non-SA Government           Total

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

Income

6 Sales revenue - - 349 246 348 088 349 246 348 088

7 Cost of sales

Prizes - - (211 236) (209 439) (211 236) (209 439)

Gambling tax on net gambling revenue (56 584) (56 846) - - (56 584) (56 486)

Agent’s commission - - (25 779) (25 755) (25 779) (25 755)

GST on net gambling revenue - - (12 546) (12 604) (12 546) (12 604)

Total cost of sales (56 584) (56 846) (249 561) (247 798) (306 145) (304 644)

Interest revenue 3 083 2 793 - - 3 083 2 793

8 Other revenues 9 9 4 395 4 237 4 404 4 246

Total income (53 492) (54 044) 104 080 104 527 50 588 50 483

Expenses

9 Employee benefits expenses 436 340 6 105 5 497 6 541 5 837

10 Supplies and services

Advertising and marketing 77 72 5 798 6 345 5 875 6 417

Computer operations - - 3 190 3 221 3 190 3 221

Tickets, coupons, terminal rolls and ribbons - - 1 467 1 598 1 467 1 598

Operating leases - - 609 570 609 570

Other occupancy costs 10 10 552 510 562 520

Agent distribution costs - - 225 219 225 219

Insurance 145 152 - - 145 152

External audit fees 121 177 - - 121 177

Training costs - - 82 88 82 88

Gambling tax - other 32 42 - - 32 42

Net loss on disposal of non-current assets - - - 2 - 2

Bad debts - - 6 - 6 -

Other 218 39 1 233 1 225 1 451 1 264

Total supplies and services 603 492 13 162 13 778 13 765 14 270

Borrowing costs 95 213 - - 95 213

Total expenses (excluding depreciation 
and amortisation)

 
1 134

 
1 045

 
19 267

 
19 275

 
20 401

 
20 320
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Note

            SA Government         Non-SA Government           Total

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

Financial assets

15 Receivables

Debtor agents - - 1 565 535 1 565 535

Prizes receivable from Blocs - - 26 389 272 26 389 272

Sundry receivables 274 245 131 113 405 358

GST receivable - - 454 414 454 414

Prepayments 52 - 160 86 212 86

Total receivables 326 245 28 699 1 420 29 025 1 665

Financial liabilities

19 Payables

Current

Creditors and accrued expenses 196 237 2 274 1 511 2 470 1 748

Prizes payable - - 38 227 10 238 38 227 10 238

GST payable - - 1 142 1 206 1 142 1 206

Undistributed funds 7 196 8 739 - - 7 196 8 739

Employment on-costs 80 30 36 49 116 79

Total current payables 7 472 9 006 41 679 13 004 49 151 22 010

Non-current

Employment on-costs 16 16 12 31 28 47

Total non-current payables 16 16 12 31 28 47

Total payables 7 488 9 022 41 691 13 035 49 179 22 057

20 Borrowings (current and non-current) 560 2 250 - - 560 2 250
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We certify that:

> the attached General Purpose 

Financial Report for the Lotteries 

Commission of South Australia 

presents fairly, in accordance  

with the Treasurer’s Instructions 

promulgated under the provisions of 

the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987, 

applicable Australian Accounting 

Standards and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements  

in Australia, the financial position of 

the Lotteries Commission of South 

Australia as at 30 June 2007, the  

results of its operations and its cash 

flows for the year then ended; 

> the attached financial statements are 

in accordance with the accounts and 

records of the Lotteries Commission of 

South Australia and give an accurate 

indication of the financial transactions 

of the Lotteries Commission of South 

Australia for the year then ended; and

> internal controls over the financial 

reporting have been effective 

throughout the reporting period 

and there are reasonable grounds 

to believe the Lotteries Commission 

of South Australia will be able to 

pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a 

resolution of the Commission.

Hans J Ohff

Presiding Member

June Roache

Chief Executive

23 August 2007

Certification of the Financial Report
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ACTTAB

The Australian Capital Territory 

Totalisator Agency Board

Agent

Entity appointed under Agent 

Agreement to operate an 

SA Lotteries agency

Agency

Distribution outlet selling 

SA Lotteries games

Corporate Scorecard

A performance measurement 

report linking targets with the 

corporate strategic intent

CSR

Corporate Social Responsibility

Division One

The top prize in Lotto – Saturday, Lotto 

– Monday and Wednesday, Oz Lotto, 

Powerball, Super 66 and The Pools

Easiplay Club

SA Lotteries’ free player registration 

service for ticket purchases which 

provides players with the ability 

to safeguard their winnings and 

store favourite numbers.

EBITDA

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 

Depreciation and Amortisation

Instant Scratchies

Instant lottery tickets whereby 

players can win a prize by scratching 

away the latex on the ticket to 

reveal symbols or prize amounts

Jackpot

Occurs when there are no Division One 

winning entries recorded for a draw, 

which results in the Division One prize 

pool accumulating to the Division One 

prize for the next draw

Keno

A numbers game of chance whereby  

20 numbers are randomly generated 

from a possible 80 every 3.5 minutes. 

Players can choose to select one number 

(Spot 1) up to ten numbers (Spot 10)

Lotto – Saturday

A game of chance in which six numbered 

balls and two supplementary balls are 

randomly drawn from a barrel of 45 

every Saturday

Lotto – Monday and Wednesday

A game of chance in which six 

numbered balls and two supplementary 

balls are randomly drawn from a barrel 

of 45 every Monday and Wednesday

LuckySA Lottery

A traditional raffle-style lottery with 

tickets generated via SA Lotteries’  

online terminals

Megadraw

Lotto – Saturday draw that offers 

an augmented Division One prize 

pool, often exceeding $20 million

MTBF

Mean number of Transactions 

Between Failures – a measure of 

the reliability of agent terminals

Online Lotteries System

The central computer system 

operating SA Lotteries’ games, 

which is connected to a State 

wide network of approximately 

700 Point of Sale terminals

Oz Lotto

A game of chance in which seven 

numbered balls and two supplementary 

balls are randomly drawn from a barrel 

of 45 every Tuesday

POS

Point of Sale at SA Lotteries agencies

Powerball

A game of chance in which five 

numbered balls are randomly drawn 

from one barrel of 45, and one 

numbered ball (the Powerball) is 

drawn from a second barrel of 45

Responsible gambling

Occurs when individuals make 

informed decisions about their 

participation in lotteries games and 

play without harm to themselves, 

others and their communities

Return to Government 

Total payments to Government from 

SA Lotteries’ activities comprising 

Gambling Tax, Income Tax Equivalent, 

Dividend and Unclaimed Prizes

Shareholder

The Government of South 

Australia, on behalf of the 

community of South Australia

Special appeal lottery

A lottery which may be conducted 

by SA Lotteries to raise funds for 

a State-based cause or disaster

Spot 10 jackpot

The top prize in a game of Keno that is 

won when a player correctly matches 10 

of the 20 numbers drawn. The Spot 10 

prize includes a minimum guaranteed 

$1 million plus any jackpot amount

Glossary
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State Lotteries Codes of Practice 

Mandatory codes for responsible 

gambling and advertising approved by 

the Independent Gambling Authority

Super 66

A game of chance in which the player 

selects a six-digit number combination 

in the range of 000000 to 999999. 

To win Division One, players match 

their selected numbers in the order 

of those drawn every Saturday

The Pools

A game of chance in which the 

winning numbers are based on the 

results of soccer matches played 

in either the Northern Hemisphere 

or Southern Hemisphere

Top prize

The highest prize available on an Instant 

Scratchies ticket, and the largest prize 

available in Keno Spots 8, 9 and 10




